

BIOMECHANICAL MEASURES FROM USING SMART BODY-WEAR SENSORS FOR GAIT ANALYSIS

A thesis submitted by

Mustafa Naser Mnati Al-lami

For the award of

Doctor of Philosophy

2021

QUOTES

Said the Prophet **Muhammad** peace be upon him and his family "The best person is the one who benefits all human beings" Believe the Messenger of Allah

ABSTRACT

There has been remarkable growth in the use of smartphone applications as a means of describing human movement. Accelerometer sensors in smartphones can be used to detect human movements and define gait characteristics. Photogrammetry approaches are used to study human gait for a variety of purposes such as medical, forensic and sport performance. This is a shift from insole sensors which were widely used to study human movements in recent decades. Importantly, each of the mentioned techniques can provide sets of data leading to a better understanding of human gait. For example, data extracted from insole sensors can be related to force and pressure, accelerometers mainly provide spatial-temporal parameter data, and photogrammetry data can better describe joint location (kinematics) during walking.

However, there is a lack of research literature assessing the accuracy of such smartphone use. Thus, the main aim of this work was to provide evidence for the applicability of smartphones as an effective tool for collecting biomechanical data and assessing human gait during walking. The current research work aimed to fill this gap in the literature by using a set of objectives comparing smartphones with other techniques.

The first objective was to identify existing accelerometer measurement data obtained from smartphone devices and evaluate this data by comparing captured data with camera image-based photogrammetric data. The data were collected during walking trials. Smartphones were attached to the subject's knee joints, and cameras were placed around a 5m-walkway at specific positions. Ten subjects (with no prior injury, disability or illness) were recruited and asked to perform a two steps walking trial, with five repetitions. The results indicated that the linear location values for the whole stance phase are relatively similar and closer to that of a camera's 3D location in the x y planes (Z direction) (R= 0.935) which supports the hypothesis of our research that the smartphone can be utilised as tool for gait characteristics measurements.

The remaining research objectives were to develop a new methodology for smartphone sensor device analysis of spatiotemporal gait parameters, and to compare the spatiotemporal data between the smartphones and F-Scan insole sensors during walking. Data were collected from both the triaxial accelerometer embedded in the Samsung S9 cameras and insole sensors. Two smartphones, one attached to each lower limb, were used in this experiment. Thirty subjects were asked to walk along a 10-m walkway at a laboratory setting at the Exercise and Sport Science Centre at the University of Southern Queensland (USQ). Data for the four parameters of step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed were collected during walking. The results pointed out close data readings from both devices. For example, the step time findings were $(0.68\pm0.02 \text{ insole})$ and (0.69 ± 0.03) , and the stride time findings were $(1.21\pm0.05 \text{ insole})$ and (1.21 ± 0.05) .

From the results of the four parameters, it was noticed that there is a high agreement between the smartphone and insole sensor when measuring gait parameters. Furthermore, these results demonstrated that the smartphone sensor can efficiently measure the spatiotemporal gait parameters of healthy adult participants. Thus, smartphone sensors can provide reliable data without the need for expensive devices. Finally, the proposed study will help experts work more efficiently and objectively, and at less expense when evaluating gait.

CERTIFICATION OF THESIS

This thesis is the work of **Mustafa Naser Mnati Al-lami** except where otherwise acknowledged. The work is original and has not previously been submitted for any other award, except where acknowledged.

Dr Albert Chong

Principal Supervisor:

Dr Shahab Abdulla Associate Supervisor:

Student and supervisor's signatures of endorsement are held at the University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I humbly thank Allah the Almighty, who gave me health and the thoughts to achieve this goal. Then, I would like to acknowledge and thank those who gave their valuable time and assist throughout my PhD journey. I would like to thank and to express my sincere gratitude to Dr Albert Chong, my principal supervisor for his guidance, help, patience and encouragement. It would have been very difficult to complete my goal without his support. Many thanks to my associate supervisor Dr Shahab Abdulla for his advice and discussion, which helped me to make my work better. For all my supervisors, I feel very grateful and blessed to have worked under their supervision. I would like to dedicate this work to my parents. They raised me with a love of science and supported me in all my pursuits; without their support and their prayers, I could not continue to complete this work. There are not enough words to describe what a powerful influence they continue giving me. Many thanks!

I would also like to thank my brothers and sister. They have always supported me and encouraged me with their best wishes. I am greatly indebted to them for their love, encouragement and unconditional support.

I would like to thank Sandra Cochrane for her help and support. Also, for my very special friends (Redha Alrikabi, Wessam Al-Salman and Mohammed Al-azzawi) for their endless help and support during my experimental work. Thank you so much.

I also want to express my thanks to the Republic of Iraq Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research for supporting me and for giving me the opportunity to do my best. Also, I wish to express my appreciation to the University of Southern Queensland (USQ). It has provided great support which has helped me to overcome the challenges I have faced during my academic study. I would like to acknowledge the support of the Australian Commonwealth Government through the Research Training Program (RTP) Fees Offset scheme during my research.

I owe special thanks to my father, mother, sisters and brothers for their endless support throughout my life.

And last, I do not know how to begin with saying thank-you to my lovely wife, Farah, for being so patient through the toughest moments of this journey. Thank you Farah for your love and prayers.

Mustafa Al-Lami

ASSOCIATED PUBLICATIONS

Mnati, MN, Chong, AK & Majeed, A 2019, 'Smartphone Sensor vs Photogrammetry for Gait Analysis', Paper was accepted and presented in *2019 3rd International Conference on Imaging, Signal Processing and Communication (ICISPC)*, IEEE, pp. 130-3.

Mnati, MN & Chong, AK 2020, 'Reliability and validity of Smartphones to Record and Study the Assessment of Gait Characteristics', Paper was accepted and presented in *2020 IEEE 10th Symposium on Computer Applications & Industrial Electronics (ISCAIE)*, IEEE, pp. 141-4.

Mnati, MN & Chong, AK 2021, 'An efficient study comparing the measure of spatiotemporal gait parameters between smartphone and insole sensorsa', Paper was accepted in Science Journal of Circuits, Systems and Signal Processing. vol. 9, no. 2, p. 42.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTI		
CERTIFICATION OF THESIS III		
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSIV		
ASSOCIATED PUBLICATIONSVI		
TABLE OF CONTENTSVII		
LIST OF FIGURES		
LIST OF TABLESXIV		
ABBREVIATIONSXVI		
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1		
1.1 Overview		
1.2 GAP IN THE RESEARCH		
1.3 RESEARCH QUESTIONS		
1.4 OBJECTIVES		
1.5 LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH		
1.6 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE RESEARCH		
1.7 Structure of the thesis		
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW		
2.1 INTRODUCTION		
2.2 GAIT ANALYSIS		
2.3 HUMAN GAIT APPLICATIONS		
2.3.1 Clinical purposes		
2.3.2 Security purposes		
2.3.3 Sports purposes		
2.3.4 Footwear design purposes		
2.4 GAIT ANALYSIS METHODS11		
2.4.1 Non-wearable sensors		

2.4.2	Advantages and disadvantages of Non-wearable sensors	13
2.4.3	Wearable sensors	14
2.4.4	Advantages and disadvantages	17
2.5 CLC	SE RANGE PHOTOGRAMMETRY	17
2.5.1	Digital Video Camera	19
2.5.2	Data Acquisition	20
2.5.3	Data processing and analysis of photogrammetric methods	20
2.5.4	Video Camera Calibration	20
2.6 Sma	ARTPHONE PLATFORM	21
2.6.1	Technical Specification	21
2.6.2	Smartphone Sensors	22
2.7 Sum	1MARY	23
СНАРТЕБ	R 3 METHODOLOGY	25
3.1 OVE	RVIFW	25
3.2 KIN	EMATICS (DISTANCE AND POSITIONS)	26
3.2.1	Subjects and case description	26
3.2.2	Research protocol	27
3.2.3	Camera calibration and photogrammetric data capture	28
3.2.4	Smartphone accelerometer calibration	31
3.2.5	DATA ACQUISITION	34
3.2.6	Experimental measurements and analyses	38
3.3 SPA	TIAL PARAMETERS	39
3.3.1	Overview	39
3.3.2	Equipment	40
3.3.3	Participants	44
3.3.4	Data collection and processing	45
3.3.5	Statistical analysis	48
3.4 SUM	1MARY	49
СНАРТЕВ	R 4: TRIAL RESULTS AND ANALYSIS	50
4 1 Is rem		
4.1 INT		30
4.2 EVA	LUATING SMARTPHONE ACCELEROMETER FOR EXISTING AND NEW	<u>5</u> 1
MEASURE	UMEN I	51

4.3 SPATIOTEMPORAL GAIT PARAMETERS	5
4.3.1 Performance quality of the developed method based on reliability and	
validity	5
4.3.2 Performance of the study based on Bland Altman plots	7
4.3.3 Performance of the developed study based on 25-cross validation 7	8
4.4 SUMMARY	5
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION8	6
5.1 AN OVERVIEW	6
5.2 SMARTPHONE VERSUS PHOTOGRAMMETRY MEASURE ACCURACY	8
5.3 SMARTPHONE VERSUS INSOLE SENSORS MEASURE ACCURACY	8
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION9	2
6.1 Conclusion	2
6.2 Future work	13
	15
NEFENEINCES	0
APPENDIX A	12
APPENDIX A	1 2 12
APPENDIX A	12 12 12
APPENDIX A 10 Ethics Clearance Forms 10 A.1 Participant Information Sheet 10 A.2 Consent Form 10	12 12 12 15
APPENDIX A 10Ethics Clearance Forms10A.1 Participant Information Sheet10A.2 Consent Form10 APPENDIX B 10	12 12 12 15 15
APPENDIX A 10 Ethics Clearance Forms 10 A.1 Participant Information Sheet 10 A.2 Consent Form 10 APPENDIX B 10 Qualysis and photogrammetry results 10	12 12 12 15 17
APPENDIX A 10 Ethics Clearance Forms 10 A.1 Participant Information Sheet 10 A.2 Consent Form 10 APPENDIX B 10 Qualysis and photogrammetry results 10 B.1 Qualysis track manager setting up process and specifications 10	12 12 12 12 15 17 17 17
APPENDIX A 10 Ethics Clearance Forms 10 A.1 Participant Information Sheet 10 A.2 Consent Form 10 APPENDIX B 10 Qualysis and photogrammetry results 10 B.1 Qualysis track manager setting up process and specifications 10 B.2 Result of camera parameter after run the bundle in the Australis	12 12 12 15 17 17 17
APPENDIX A 10 ETHICS CLEARANCE FORMS 10 A.1 PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET 10 A.2 CONSENT FORM 10 APPENDIX B 10 QUALYSIS AND PHOTOGRAMMETRY RESULTS 10 B.1 QUALYSIS TRACK MANAGER SETTING UP PROCESS AND SPECIFICATIONS 10 B.2 RESULT OF CAMERA PARAMETER AFTER RUN THE BUNDLE IN THE AUSTRALIS 11	12 12 12 12 15 17 17 17 17
APPENDIX A 10 ETHICS CLEARANCE FORMS 10 A.1 PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET 10 A.2 CONSENT FORM 10 APPENDIX B 10 QUALYSIS AND PHOTOGRAMMETRY RESULTS 10 B.1 QUALYSIS TRACK MANAGER SETTING UP PROCESS AND SPECIFICATIONS 10 B.2 RESULT OF CAMERA PARAMETER AFTER RUN THE BUNDLE IN THE AUSTRALIS 11 B.3 25 Photos of one step for one subject from one camera only. 11	12 12 12 12 15 17 17 17 17 17
APPENDIX A 10 ETHICS CLEARANCE FORMS 10 A.1 PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET 10 A.2 CONSENT FORM 10 APPENDIX B 10 QUALYSIS AND PHOTOGRAMMETRY RESULTS 10 B.1 QUALYSIS TRACK MANAGER SETTING UP PROCESS AND SPECIFICATIONS 10 B.2 RESULT OF CAMERA PARAMETER AFTER RUN THE BUNDLE IN THE AUSTRALIS 10 B.3 25 Photos of one step for one subject from one camera only. 11 APPENDIX C 12	12 12 12 12 15 17 17 17 17 19 2
APPENDIX A 10 ETHICS CLEARANCE FORMS 10 A.1 PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET 10 A.2 CONSENT FORM 10 APPENDIX B 10 QUALYSIS AND PHOTOGRAMMETRY RESULTS 10 B.1 QUALYSIS TRACK MANAGER SETTING UP PROCESS AND SPECIFICATIONS 10 B.2 RESULT OF CAMERA PARAMETER AFTER RUN THE BUNDLE IN THE AUSTRALIS 10 B.3 25 PHOTOS OF ONE STEP FOR ONE SUBJECT FROM ONE CAMERA ONLY. 11 APPENDIX C 12 C.1 INSOLE SENSORS SPECIFICATION 12	12 12 12 15 17 17 17 19 2 2

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Gait phases in a normal gait cycle. Stance period and swing period9
Figure 2.2: the snapshot of silhouette images of two walking people and their 12
Figure 2.3: presser sensor showing marked start and stop boxes (Arafsha et al. 2018)
Figure 2.4: In-sole Sensor
Figure 2.5: (Left) CMT imaging of the arm and hand; (Right) CMT imaging of the
palm and fingers. Note the scale bar for quality control(Chong 2011)18
Figure 2.6: (left) Video image of raised heel; (right) processed 3D surface model
(Al-Baghdadi et al. 2011)19
Figure 2.7: The accelerometer measures changes along the x, y, and z-axes
Figure 3.1: Research methodology outline (first part of methodology)26
Figure 3.2: Camera calibration target board
Figure 3.3: Focal length where xp and yp are the coordinates of a point in the camera
coordinate system and c=focal length (Chong 2011)
Figure 3.4: Four digital HD Panasonic Lumix cameras
Figure 3.5: Setup of motion capture system
Figure 3.7: Motion capture system with front view capture
Figure 3.6: Motion capture system with side view capture
Figure 3.8: Motion capture system simulated sensor
Figure 3.9: A and B: Collection smartphone sensors and camera data
Figure 3.10: Sample acceleration signals for walking. Normal gait (A) and disability
gait (B)
Figure 3.11: Research methodology outline (second part)

Figure 3.12: Insole sensor
Figure 3.13: In-shoe pressure system
Figure 3.14: Samsung Galaxy S943
Figure 3.15: Physics tool app with linear accelerometer reading
Figure 3.16: A and B: An example for two people wearing insole sensors and
smartphones during the test
Figure 3.17: Trial with nine steps of the accelerometer for one subject
Figure 3.18: Nine steps from F-scan of insole sensor
Figure 4.1: Subject 1 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data
Figure 4.2: Subject 2 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data 53
Figure 4.3: Subject 3 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data 53
Figure 4.4: 25 frames for photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for
first subject
Figure 4.5: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B)
sensors for second subject
Figure 4.6: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B)
sensors for third subject
Figure 4.7: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B)
sensors for fourth subject
Figure 4.8: Vertical and horizontal positions for 25 frames of photogrammetry (A)
and accelerometer measures (B) for fifth subject
Figure 4.9: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measure (B) for
sixth subject60
Figure 4.10: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for
seventh subject

Figure 4.11: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for
eighth subject
Figure 4.12: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for
ninth subject
Figure 4.13: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for
tenth subject
Figure 4.14: Mean and standard deviation for four factors insole sensors data (left
step) for 10 subject
Figure 4.15: Mean and standard deviation for four factors accelerometer data (left
steps) for 10 subject
Figure 4.16: Mean and standard deviation for four factors insole sensors data (right
steps) for 10 subject
Figure 4.17: Mean and standard deviation for four factors accelerometer data (right
steps) for 10 subject
Figure 4.18: Bland-Altman plot for Samsung smartphone attached to subject's body
and insole sensors for two subjects with 25 trials. Each dot represents a single step.
The solid line is the bias, with dashed lines representing the upper and lower of error
LOA
Figure 4.19: Box plot for Pearson correlation coefficient of smartphones and insole
sensors: A shows the left leg and B shows the right leg79
Figure 4.20: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' step time for first subject
Figure 4.21: Scatterplot of smartphone device vs insole sensor for left and right legs'
stride time for first subject

Figure 4.22: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' cadence for first subject
Figure 4.23: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' walking speed for first subject
Figure 4.24: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' step time for second subject
Figure 4.25: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' step time for second subject
Figure 4.26: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' cadence for second subjects
Figure 4.27: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right
legs' walking time for second subject

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Participants' characteristics 27
Table 3.2: Demographics for group of 10 males 44
Table 3.3: Demographics for group of 10 females 45
Table 4.1: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in the
load phases of gait for first subject
Table 4.2: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for second subject
Table 4.3: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for third subject
Table 4.4: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for fourth subject
Table 4.5: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for fifth subject
Table 4.6: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measure in load
phases of gait for sixth subject
Table 4.7: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for seventh subject
Table 4.8: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measure in load
phases of gait for eighth subject
Table 4.9: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measures in load
phases of gait for ninth subject
Table 4.10: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measures in
load phases of gait for tenth subject

Table 4.11: Average of mean and SD for 10 subjects with four parameters. 66
Table 4.12: Differences in step time for each individual (number of trials=3)
Table 4.13: Differences in stride time for each individual (number of trials $=3$)71
Table 4.14: Differences in Cadence for each individual (number of trials =3)72
Table 4.15: Differences in walking speed for each individual (number of trials =3) 73
Table 4.16: Performance of proposed method based on four parameters - left insole
Table 4.17: Performance of the proposed method based on four parameters – right 75
Table 4.18: Results for mean ± SD for 25 trials 76
Table 4.19: Summary of results agreement between accelerometer measures and
insoles for two subjects with 25 trials

ABBREVIATIONS

AROM	Active range of motion
CA	Contact area
CRP	Close-range photogrammetry
EMG	Electromyography
ETS	Electromagnetic tracking system
FF	Force foot
FRS	Force Resistance Sensors
GEI	Gait Energy Image
GPS	Global positioning system
ICC	Interclass Correlation Coefficient
IMUs	Inertial Measurement Units
KG	kilogram
LRS	Laser range scanners
L	Left
MEMS	Micro electromechanical systems
MF	Midfoot
MR	Magnetoresistive sensor
NWS	Non wearable system
PP	Peak Pressure
R	Right
RFS	Reaction force sensors
TEM	Technical Error of Measurement
TFL	Truncated foot length
ТО	Teos
TOF	Time-of-Flight
WS	Wearable system
WB	Weight bearing
2D	Two dimensions
3D	Three Dimensions

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides a general overview of the research topic. It presents the research gap, objectives, questions, significance and the scope of the research. It also outlines the structure of the thesis.

1.1 Overview

The importance of measuring and analysing gait variability has drawn the attention of many researchers and experts from different fields. The concept of human gait analysis is being used by specialists in wide range of fields such as sports, medicine, allied health and security (Tan et al. 2015; Akhtaruzzaman et al. 2016).

As limbs move, they generate a specific locomotion that is defined as human gait. These movements include walking, running and jumping. The study of human gait is considered to be one of primary methods providing significant information to assist human health. Human locomotion is described in terms of gait parameters such as walking cadence, velocity, step/stride length and step/stride time. A person's walking pattern can be assessed by gait analysis to determine abnormalities as well as any significant variation in gait parameters and potential consequences of those abnormal patterns. According to Muheidat et al. (2017), there are strong links between human gait characteristics and different medical conditions as proved in clinical research. Also, research shows that changes in certain gait parameters may be predictive of future falls and adverse events in older adults such as a physical functional decline (Viccaro et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2012). Moreover, the progression of diseases affecting mobility has been monitored using the analysis of gait (Samà et al. 2012). Winter (2009) stated that Human Movement's biomechanics is considered to be a discipline that illustrates, analyses and assesses human movement. Winter (2009) emphases that this scientific area has attracted the attention of specialists, experts, rehabilitation engineers, doctors, athletes and therapists.

As a result of human gait analysis's many applications, an assortment of technologies are being created and investigated to evaluate and assess it. Most of the systems can be categorized into wearable devices, walk-on devices, radar and motion systems, and vision based devices and techniques (Liu et al. 2011; Nessler et al. 2015; Iosa et al. 2016). Many factors affect system choice: cost, portability and active involvement by the user. Many systems are suitable for only the laboratory or clinic setting, e.g. GAITRite Electronic mat and the Vicon motion capture system (Peters et al. 2014; Mjøsund et al. 2017).

A wearable device is an electronic device that can be attached to the body or embedded in a garment, and is able to record information about the user's body movements by analysing the signals produced by the device's transducers (Del Rosario et al. 2015). Wearable sensors have experienced a remarkable growth in application, such as in the security, medical and commercial fields. They provide accurate and reliable information about human movements and activities, so they can be very beneficial in human movement studies. With regular movements, wearable sensors can manage and evaluate chronic diseases such as obesity (Turner et al. 2015). Wearable sensors are also valuable tools for athletes; enhancing their personal health status because they can provide individualised feedback during training sessions, evaluate running and dynamic sway in the gait of athletes, etc. (Blank et al. 2014; Moran et al. 2015; Brodie et al. 2016).

The characteristics of wearable sensors (low power, small size and light weight) allow researchers to monitor movement and gait characteristics over long periods of time (Gong et al. 2015). In addition, they should not affect the performance of subjects as they can be attached or embedded into clothing or smartphones. Several sensors can be embedded in smartphones, such as accelerometers, gyroscopes and magnetometers. Obtaining accelerometer data from smartphones has become a very interesting subject in current studies, with successful application and good results (Manor et al. 2018; Nelms et al. 2020). Accelerometer sensors can be used to obtain data related to a user's gait without obstructing the user as he/she walks. Many recent gait studies have used smartphone sensors (Fernandez-Lopez et al. 2016): human movement (Bulbul et al. 2018) and sport (Kos et al. 2018).

In this research, a new technique will be applied to the study of human movement using smartphone sensor accelerometer data. Hence, the purpose of this research is to develop a low-cost, high quality and easily used approach by replacing the photogrammetry technique and insole sensors with a smartphone sensor. However, no such study has been done exactly same comparison before to obtain biomechanical measures and smart body-wear devices for gait.

1.2 Gap in the research

From a review of the literature (detailed in the second chapter), it can be seen that human movements and gait characteristics have been studied using various devices such as cameras, and pressure and force sensors. However, these devices have some disadvantages such as being costly, requiring space, being time consuming and requiring active involvement from the user. Recently, research scientists have become interested in developing new measures based on smartphone technology, but the existing literature has not reported any work that:

- a) Suitability of smartphones compared to photogrammetry techniques
- b) Suitability of smartphones compared to insole sensors.

These ideas to evaluate the smartphone can increase the validity of smartphone in gait analysis research.

Therefore, the research gaps in the field of human gait analysis are:

- 1) Evaluate smartphone accelerometer technology as a replacement for current photogrammetry techniques using imaging sensors.
- 2) Develop a set of human movement measures using advanced technologies.

1.3 Research Questions

There are a number of crucial questions for this research. These questions are:

- To determine the existing measures suitable from body-wear devices for gait research:
 - a) What are the types of smartphone sensors to be evaluated in this research and why?
 - b) Why it is crucial in gait study to put the body-wear sensors in lower limb?
- 2) To evaluate the most suitable set of devices by comparing the data resulting from smartphone accelerometer sensors with camera images data.

- To evaluate smartphone based biomechanical measurements for the study of gait characteristics using a cohort of 30 adults:
 - a) What protocols should be used in this research?
 - b) How will spatiotemporal gait data be analysed?
- 4) What are the benefits of using the proposed methodology in the field of gait analysis?
- 5) Are commercial accelerometer smartphone sensors suitable for determining gait human movements?
- 6) How to use the new statistical testing methods to analysis gait data of healthy groups.

1.4 Objectives

The main aim of this research is to study a new technique to evaluate smartphone-based biomechanical measures for gait characteristic analysis. To achieve this aim, four objectives were formalised:

- To identify research gaps in the existing literature regarding the introduction of a new evaluation technique for smartphone sensor devices which can be achieved by:
 - a) Determining existing accelerometer measurements obtained from smartphone devices
 - b) Comparing captured data with camera image-based photogrammetric data.
- To develop a new methodology for smartphone sensor device analysis of spatiotemporal gait parameters.
- To determine the suitability of new gait parameters characteristics to identify and relationship between Smartphone and Insole sensors.
- 4) To evaluate the performance quality of the proposed methods using different statistical methods and comparing the results of the novel methodology with those of the most commonly used methods discussed in published works.

1.5 Limitations of the research

This research has three limitations that should be acknowledged. These are:

- 1) Synchronization of accelerometers with digital cameras (possible timing errors).
- Use of commercial smartphone sensors which may not be the most accurate. For example accelerometer sensor characteristics are Vender:STC, version:1, max range:78:453m/s² and Resolution:0.002 m/s²
- 3) Walking at speed and running were not tested during this investigation because of the limited dimensions of using wiring system.

1.6 Significance of the research

Completing this research will bring a number of benefits to conducting human gait analysis. These benefits are:

- 1) Analysis of various aspects of gait, including turns, gait initiation and termination, or inter-cycle variability.
- Demonstration that smartphone sensors, such as accelerometers, can provide accurate and efficient data compared to the photogrammetry technique in gait studying.
- 3) Development of a new technique to analyse the spatiotemporal parameters with less money, effort and time.

1.7 Structure of the thesis

This thesis consists of five chapters and each chapter provides important information on that study. The rest of the thesis is structured as follows:

• **Chapter 1** is the introductory chapter, explaining the background and definition of human gait, the research problems and aims, the research objectives, the significance of the research and the structure of the thesis.

- Chapter 2 forms the literature review, presenting the importance of human gait analysis, non-wearable and wearable systems, close range photogrammetry and the smartphone platform.
- Chapter 3 is divided into two parts and describes the instrumentation used to perform the study's experiments. The first part shows the measurement systems used to measure kinematics of the lower limb movements, the test protocol, camera calibration and photogrammetric data capture, data collection from the accelerometer's smartphone sensor, calculation, and statistics. This part compares and validates the use of the smartphone and camera. The second part describes the new evaluation methodology for spatial parameters. It shows the equipment, the plantar pressure measurement system, participants, protocol test, data collection and processing, and statistical analysis.
- Chapter 4 presents the accelerometer test, photogrammetry test, insole sensors, kinematics and spatiotemporal parameter results while walking in different trials. It also presents the analysis techniques used to evaluate and validate the presented methods.
- Chapter 5 presents the main discussions points of the research conducted, and the conclusion of the thesis.
- Chapter 6 presents the conclusion of the thesis and the future work.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter provides both a background to human gait analysis and a literature review of its major elements, as well as citing some of its applications. It then focuses on gait analysis method by highlighting non wearable and wearable devices that are used to study gait and human movement and critically reviewing the advantages and disadvantages of both types of methods. The chapter also gives a brief of smartphone platforms and smartphone techniques and sensors.

2.1 Introduction

Currently, many research projects have addressed human gait analysis. The very beginning of the research on this type of analysis was in the 19th century. The majority of such projects needed to study the variety of parameters that characterise gait, so they have focused on achieving quantitative objective measurements of these parameters to be applied in the various fields such as sports (Howell et al. 2017), and medicine (Schwenk et al. 2014). Two approaches are used to analyse gait parameters. The first one used is the semi-subjective method, which uses traditional scales. This can be done by patient walking and it is usually followed by a survey in which the patient is asked to provide a subjective evaluation of the quality of his/her gait. (Lord et al. 2012) This method gives subjective measurements, which may have a negative effect on the diagnosis, follow-up and treatment of the pathologies (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014). In contrast, the second approach benefits from the remarkable growth in technology via devices and techniques such as camera floor sensors which allow an objective evaluation of different gait parameters, resulting in more efficient measurements and providing specialists with a large amount of reliable information on patients' gaits. Consequently, the error margin caused by subjective techniques can be reduced.

This chapter is divided into several sections and sub-sections based on the objectives and aims of this research. A general introduction is described in section 2.1. Section 2.2 is describing basic introduction into gait analysis protocol. Section 2.3 explains the importance of gait analysis in human movement studies. Section 2.4 explains the gait

analysis methods and provide brief about the gait study systems such as non-wearable and wearable sensors. Section 2.5 is about close range photogrammetric technique, and 2.6 is about mobile platform.

2.2 Gait analysis

Human walking is a periodic movement of the body segments and includes repetitive motions (Winters et al., 2012). To describe this periodic movement, the human gait must be studied. Gait analysis is a method for evaluating the dynamic position and coordination during movement (Kavanagh and Menz, 2008). It can help in rehabilitation and therapy to note all the gait properties such as lower limb rotations and tilts, knee movement and foot placement (Bernardes & Oliveira 2017; Mirek et al. 2018).

To identify the functional importance of the different motions generated at the individual joints and segments, human walking patterns can be analysed by phases. There are eight different gait phases of the normal walking gait cycle: initial contact, loading response, midstance, terminal stance, pre-swing, initial swing, mid-swing, and terminal swing as shown in Figure 2.1 (Tao et al. 2012).



Figure 2.1: Gait phases in a normal gait cycle. Stance period and swing period

2.3 Human Gait Applications

2.3.1 Clinical purposes

Understanding human gait helps specialists to make more comprehensive diagnoses and provide more effective treatments for those who have ailments affecting their ability to walk normally. This awareness can thus be used to deliver better care to patients. According to (Anderson et al. 1997), human gait analysis has been considered as a useful tool for physicians, therapists and clinicians for rehabilitation purposes in order to evaluate gait conditions of patients and then make appropriate treatment decisions.

Baker (2006) once treatment has commenced, human gait analysis can also be used to monitor patient progress and to predict subsequent treatment outcomes. Experts have employed such analysis to choose suitable orthoses for patients with abnormal walking conditions or to evaluate the efficiency of these devices (Brehm et al. 2011).

Other researchers have used human gait variables along with classification techniques to categorise patients into certain groups, and this is critical to such issues as the diagnosis of neuromuscular disorders (Yousefi & Hamilton-Wright 2014) or the prediction of falling behaviour (Begg & Kamruzzaman 2005).

2.3.2 Security purposes

Human gait analysis protocols were employed to identify and recognise people at a distance (Lee & Grimson 2002; Kale et al. 2003). One of the essential applications of recognition people using human gait analysis is for security purposes, where it can be used along with other techniques to detect criminals (Iwama et al. 2013). The researcher derived gait signature for the human walking pattern as each lower extremity has different pattern, thus they can be recognised by their walking style (Sun et al. 2016).

Gait is a more valuable biometric than the others according to the fact that biometrics such as iris and face details are not easily recognised by surveillance applications at low resolution (Sulovská et al. 2013).

2.3.3 Sports purposes

Athletes and sports professionals can benefit from gait analysis throughout monitoring performance parameters. That can lead to the detection of abnormalities and possibly increase athletic performance and reduce the risk of injury.

Parker et al. (2008) examined balance control during gait in concussed and uninjured athletes and non-athletes and they were assessed for their gait performance.

They found supposition that participation in high-impact sports has a measurable and possibly detrimental effect on balance control during gait.

Athletic performance

Watanabe & Hokari (2006) used gait analysis, particularly the kinematical analysis, to introduce a method that helps to make useful measurements to evaluate sports skills quantitatively.

Di Stasi et al. (2013) studied the differences between the gait characteristics of two groups of athletes, namely those who passed and those who did not pass the criteria of return-tosport (RTS) six months after anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction. They found that there are some differences between the two groups. In addition, they observed that those who did not pass the criteria of RTS had more abnormal and asymmetrical gait behaviours. These findings enable clinicians to have a testing criteria to recognise athletes with such abnormalities after ACL construction. They may also improve the sports medicine specialist's ability to identify athletes with a higher risk of secondary injury

2.3.4 Footwear design purposes

The footwear industry may also benefit from studies of human gait characteristics. According to Keenan et al. (2011), findings and results from such studies should be considered in future recommendations and designs of footwear. Bamberg et al. (2008) found that the footwear proved highly capable of detecting heel-strike and toe-off, as well as estimating foot orientation and position. As footwear plays an important role in correcting pathological gait and providing good foot support, the performance of some footwear has been studied regarding gait characteristics (Cheung & Zhang 2006). In addition, (Csapo et al. 2010) illustrated the importance of using suitable footwear in gaining good foot health.

It is well established that experts from any discipline need to follow the scientific approach when it comes to providing a solution for a particular problem or answering a specific question, and this particularly relates to footwear.

2.4 Gait Analysis Methods

Generally, human walking is a periodic movement of the body segments and includes repetitive motions(Winters et al. 2012). To describe this periodic movement, the human gait must be studied.

Gait analysis is a method for evaluating the dynamic position and coordination during movement (Kavanagh & Menz 2008). It can help therapists and other experts to note all the gait properties such as lower limb rotations and tilts, knee movement and foot placement. Two different methods to analyse human gait are non-wearable sensors and wearable sensors.

2.4.1 Non-wearable sensors

Non-wearable sensor (NWS) refer to sensors that are located on fixed places such as mats that the subject walks on (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014) enabling the sensors to capture data regarding gait. Such systems might be categorised into two groups. The first group is based on image capture. In this group, one or more optic sensors are used to capture the subject's gait data and through digital image processing different parameters of the objective measurements can be taken (Courtney et al. 2001). Furthermore, there are another

types of optic sensor such as laser range scanners (LRS) (Tanabe et al. 2017), infrared sensors and Time-of-Flight (ToF) cameras (Nakamura 2016). In contrast, the other system uses pressure sensors. The sensors here are located along the floor and the gait data will be gathered through pressure sensors and ground reaction force sensors (GRF).

Usually, the non-wearable sensors bring a high level of accuracy by using new gait spatiotemporal parameters (Panero et al. 2018). However, because this method uses highly specialized equipment, it is expensive.

2.4.1.1 Image capturing

Image capturing is one of the processes used in gait studies. This process depends on using several digital or analogue cameras to obtain the gait information (Pratheepan et al. 2009). It also uses filters to obtain various characteristics of images. For example,



Figure 2.2: the snapshot of silhouette images of two walking people and their

Threshold filtering can convert images to black and white, and there are different ways to collect data to measure gait variables such as calculating the number of light or dark pixels or segmenting the background of the image. These methods have been widely studied in order to identify people by their walk (Chang et al. 2009) as shown in Figure 2.2. corresponding GEI's Gait Energy Image (Chang et al. 2009).

2.4.1.2 Pressure sensor

Pressure sensors are electronic devices that capture physical force contact to generate some sort of a response used to measure gait pressure and force when the subject

walks on these mats as shown in Figure 2.3. It can provide very high performance and accurate measurements (Arafsha et al. 2018). Pressure sensors are divided into two types: force platforms and pressure measurement systems and both systems quantify the centre of pressure (Robertson et al. 2018). However, pressure measurement systems are useful for quantifying the pressure patterns under a foot over time but cannot quantify horizontal or shear components of the applied forces (Robertson et al. 2018). Pressure sensor have clinical applications such as the prevention of pressure ulcer (Liu et al. 2014). Liu et al. (2014) found the floor mat is available for the measurement of GRF and it cannot measure more than one stride.



Figure 2.3: presser sensor showing marked start and stop boxes (Arafsha et al. 2018)

2.4.2 Advantages and disadvantages of Non-wearable sensors

The parameters of simultaneous analysis of multiple gait can be obtained by using a number of approaches. All systems are do not attach sensors to the body. Complex analysis systems are more precise and have more measurement capacity with better repeatability and reproducibility (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014). However, they have less of an external factor interference because of a controlled environment. The process of undertaking measurements is controlled in real time by the specialist. At the same time, normal subject gait might be different because of the walking space restrictions required by the measurement system. Using an expensive equipment and tests are impossible to monitor a real life gait outdoor environment (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014).

2.4.3 Wearable sensors

A wearable sensor (WS) is a category of devices that can be worn by a subject. A wearable sensor is an inexpensive, convenient, and efficient manner of providing useful information for multiple health-related applications (Tao et al. 2012).

These sensors are more flexible than NWSs because they can be used inside and outside the laboratory. In addition, they collect the subject's gait features during everyday activities. Such sensors may be worn on several parts of the body, such as feet, knees, thighs or waist. A variety of wearable sensors has been used to analyse gait characteristics, such as accelerometers, gyroscopes, flexible goniometers, electromagnetic tracking systems (ETSs), sensing fabrics and force sensors (Tong & Granat 1999; Bonato 2003). Based on these sensors, either one or a collection of sensors may be used for various gait analysis applications depending on the required information. The basic principles and features of these motion sensors and systems are described below.

2.4.3.1 Accelerometer

This sensor is one of the most used sensors in human movements and gait analysis research. An accelerometer basically uses the fundamentals of Newton's Laws of Motion, which say that the acceleration of a body is proportional to the net force acting on the body (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014). Based on this principle and using the physical changes in the displacement of the proof mass, with respect to the reference frame, the acceleration can be measured electrically. Two types of those sensors, piezoresistive sensors and capacitive accelerometers, are employed for measuring the motion status in the human gait (Bouten et al. 1997). By attaching these accelerometers to the feet or legs, the acceleration/velocity of the feet or legs in the gait to perform gait analysis (Zeng & Zhao 2011). Aaccelerometers are one of the most often sensors employed in gait analysis research. Accelerometer sensors are generally more user friendly and less invasive (Jarchi et al. 2018). They provided an extensive report of accelerometry-based gait analysis systems and applications, with additional emphasis on trunk accelerometer. Burgos et al. (2020) demonstrated the accuracy and reliability of in-ear accelerometer sensor to perform gait classification, between the activities walking and running. The data was collected from fourteen participants using a three-dimensional accelerometer sensor.

Another study demonstrated that a dual-accelerometer system previously validated in a laboratory setting also performs well in semi free-living conditions. Although these results are promising and progressive, further work is needed to expand the scope of this measurement system to detect other components of behaviour (e.g., activity intensity and sleep) that are related to health.(Narayanan et al. 2020).

Xiao et al. (2016) introduced statistical methods for predicting the types of human activity at sub-second resolution using triaxial accelerometer data. Their findings indicate that prediction of activity types for data collected during natural activities of daily living may actually be possible.

2.4.3.2 Gyroscope

A gyroscope is an angular velocity sensor. It measures inertial force, an apparent force proportional to the angular rate of rotation in a rotating reference frame. The angular rate can be measured by detecting the linear motion from the inertial effort and performing an integration of the gyroscopic signal. Gyroscopes based on other existing operating principles include electronic, microchip-packaged MEMS, solid-state ring lasers, fiber optic gyroscopes, and the extremely sensitive quantum gyroscope. A gyroscope can also be used for the measurement of the motion and posture of the human segment in gait analysis by measuring the angular rate (Altun & Barshan 2010; Ayrulu-Erdem & Barshan 2011). For example, to realize the reorganization of the various gait phases, the angular velocity and angle of feet or legs during the gait can be determined by attaching a gyroscope to human feet or legs. Most gait analysis studies combine a gyroscope and accelerometer to build a complete initial sensing system.

2.4.3.3 In-shoe systems

According to (Hsiao et al. 2002) in-shoe pressure sensor systems are one of the wearable sensors used to record the distribution of the pressure under the foot sole. This technology has emerged as a popular tool in many areas of clinical application and it possesses great potential as a useful tool in ergonomics research, such as in gait control and fall prevention. Various devices are available, which differ in size, sensor number, sensor type and therefore their response to loading and their accuracy. The strengths and weaknesses of each system in terms of validity and repeatability influence the

appropriateness of each device for specific tasks in both clinical and research settings (Price et al. 2016). After fitting these sensors in suitably sized shoes, they are to be connected to a computer to capture the data through a software such as F-Scan research (Motawea et al. 2019). Figure 2.4 show one of this system.



Figure 2.4: In-sole Sensor

2.4.3.4 Magnetoresistive (MR) sensors

Magnetoresistive (MR) sensors are linear magnetic field transducers based either on the intrinsic magnetoresistance of the ferromagnetic material (sensors based on the spontaneous resistance anisotropy in 3D ferromagnetic alloys, also called anisotropic magnetoresistance (AMR) sensors), or on ferromagnetic/non-magnetic heterostructures (giant magnetoresistance multilayers, spin valve and tunnelling magnetoresistance (TMR) devices)(Freitas et al. 2007).

2.4.3.5 GPS

The invention of the global positioning system (GPS) in the 1990s offered an optional strategy for the measurement of speed and position in the field, with the possibility of circumventing some of the limitations and minimising others (Townshend et al. 2008). GPS has been deemed a good way to study the movement of the human body, such as rotation and leg angles although it does not allow the researcher to conduct large-scale studies (Terrier & Schutz 2003). In addition, position and orientation errors tend to grow in an unrestrained way, and it is generally believed that the double integration of

acceleration signals is not sufficiently accurate for the long-term monitoring of human motion (Foxlin 2002).

2.4.4 Advantages and disadvantages of wearable systems

The WS-based methods are conducted in laboratories or controlled conditions where data retrieval devices such as accelerometer, Gyroscope, Magnetoresistive (MR) sensors, In-shoe systems and GPS set to measure gait variables as the subject walks on a clearly defined walkway. The advantage of these systems are accurate analysis and monitoring of gait through daily activities or in the long term - Cheaper systems -Allows the possibility of deployment in any place, not needing controlled environments - Increasing availability of varied miniaturized sensors - Wireless systems enhance usability - In clinical gait analysis, promotes autonomy and active role of patients Disadvantage (Tao et al. 2012). WS systems make it possible to analyse data outside the laboratory and capture information about human gait during the person's everyday activities (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014).

Power consumption restrictions due to limited battery duration - Complex algorithms needed to estimate parameters from inertial sensors - Allows analysis of limited number of gait parameters - Susceptible to noise and interference of external factors not controlled by specialist (Muro-de-la-Herran et al. 2014).

2.5 Close range photogrammetry

In close-range photogrammetry (CRP), the camera is close to the subject and typically hand-held. It has become an accepted, powerful and readily available technique for engineers, scientists and others who wish to utilise images to make accurate 3D measurements of complex objects (Luhmann et al. 2014). This technique is used to track the 3-D position of a set of fiducial points which are constituted from either retroreflective (passive) or light-emitting (active) markers. The subsequent analysis of this information is analysed helping to estimate 3-D position data from digitized and noisy image data by using the geometrical properties of central projection from multi-camera observations. It also has been used in the medical field (Chong et al. 2008; Chong 2011) as shown in Figure 2.5 and physiotherapeutic applications (Chong et al. 2008).



Figure 2.5: (Left) CMT imaging of the arm and hand; (Right) CMT imaging of the palm and fingers. Note the scale bar for quality control(Chong 2011).

In addition to the high precision and accuracy of the 3D multi-image photogrammetric technique such as (Chong, 2012; De Menezes et al., 2010), several advantages are provided. These advantages include its low cost when compared to other 3D measurement technologies (Chong, 2011; Chong, 2007), non-invasiveness (Ladeira et al., 2013), instantaneous data capture ability (Wong et al., 2008), ability for data post processing (Luhmann, 2010), and rapid data acquisition capability (Ladeira et al., 2013).

Galantucci et al. (2012) used system based on Digital Close-Range Photogrammetry with brand new equipment "stereoscopic digital cameras" to measure the facial soft tissue structures, useful for diagnostics and for the monitoring of therapies in medical and orthodontic applications. The scanner provides accuracy and reliability, is not invasive and very compact, simple and easy for physicians and doctors.

Another study developed a low-cost hardware/software system based on close range photogrammetry to track the movement of a person performing weightlifting (Colorado & Santos 2015). The goal is to reduce the costs to the trainers and athletes dedicated to this sport when it comes to analyse the performance of the sportsman and avoid injuries or accidents. Also, Al-Kharaz and Chong (2021) presented close-range photogrammetry
technique to measure ankle kinematics during active range of motion in place. The finding of this study was that measurement of ankle kinematics during active range of motion AROM using the CRP technique was highly reliable and had perfect test-retest reliability (0.89).

2.5.1 Digital Video Camera

Recently, digital video cameras have been employed to capture human body movement and model the 3D surface of specific dynamic parts of the body such as the arm (D'Apuzzo 2003), the foot (Al-Baghdadi et al. 2011) as shown in Figure 2.6. In photogrammetry, different cameras located in different positions are used to measure or track the object (Luhmann 2014). In general, though, there are major limitations in utilising video camera systems to capture human movements. Firstly, such cameras have a limited number of image frames per second so they become useless to monitor and record a body's movement during a fast gait. Secondly, there can be long processing time depending on the number of cameras that require conversion of video clips to stereo images which are essential to derive a 3-D model.



Figure 2.6: (left) Video image of raised heel; (right) processed 3D surface model (Al-Baghdadi et al. 2011).

2.5.2 Data Acquisition

Data acquisition in photogrammetry is concerned with obtaining reliable information about the properties of surfaces (Whitehead & Hugenholtz 2014). This is accomplished without physical contact with the objects, the most obvious difference being with surveying.

The remotely received information can be grouped into four categories: geometric information, physical information, semantic information and temporal information (Ganapuram et al. 2009).

2.5.3 Data processing and analysis of photogrammetric methods

To generate 2D or 3D digital models of an object, digital image capturing and photogrammetric processing, including several well-defined stages, are used (Bistacchi et al. 2015). By using stereo image pairs, 3D data acquisition can be performed. Stereo photogrammetry is considered to be a fundamental approach for 3D mapping and object reconstruction using 2D images or based on a block of overlapped images (Tuovinen et al. 2013). Given a set of images depicting a number of 3D points from different viewpoints, bundle adjustment can be defined as the problem of simultaneously refining the 3D coordinates describing the scene geometry, the parameters of the relative motion, and the optical characteristics of the camera(s) employed to acquire the images, according to an optimality criterion involving the corresponding image projections of all points. Bundle adjustment minimises the total re-projection error with respect to all 3D point and camera parameters.

2.5.4 Video Camera Calibration

In photogrammetry, camera calibration is considered an important step in order to extract matric information from 2D images (Davison et al. 2007). This means the calibration can correct the camera distortion and determine the relation between the camera's natural units (pixels) and the real-world units (for example, millimetres or inches). Thus, the camera's calibration is significant step towards getting a highly accurate representation of the real world in the captured images. This technique can be accomplished by various methods such as dense reconstruction, object localisation and camera localisation. During the process of camera calibration, the interior orientation of the camera

is determined. Foxlin et al. (2014) stated that all the metric characteristics of the camera needed for photogrammetric processes are described by interior orientation data. The interior orientation includes such elements as camera-calibrated focal length, the position of the perspective centre with respect to the fiducial marks, image quality measures and distances between fiducial marks to measure the coordinates.

2.6 Smartphone Platform

Smart mobile phones have become easy to obtain socially over the past ten years around the world. These smart devices provide a high technology platform for people as users and developers to explore mobile computing possibilities that present a promising ability for enhancing prevention, treatment and health issues (Pop-Eleches et al. 2011). This option has increased the demand for new mobile health (m-Health). Mobile developers have uses the benefits of this technology to maintain communication with patients and clinicians, as well as self-monitoring some health issues (Direito et al. 2014). In particular, Android mobile devices have been chosen by many m-health applications such as phones or tablets, as the target device to supply a more convenient user experience that has led to a rapidly increasing number of m-health pal Stores (Sinha et al. 2017). Also, Vos et al. (2016) used smartphone for supports personalized running experiences for less experienced runners. The ubiquitous nature of smartphone technology makes it an ideal platform through which to monitor human movement remotely without the cost of purchase and the inconvenience of use (Del Rosario et al. 2015).

Tran and Phan (2016) designed and constructed a system to identify human actions using integrated sensors in smartphones and all Human activities recognition system is written on Windows and Android platforms and operate in real time.

Therefore, this research has selected the Android platform to represent mobile software platforms. Sony Z5 and Samsung S9 smart phone devices have been utilised for experiments.

2.6.1 Technical Specification

This research has used two smartphone. The first device is a Sony Z5 that has the following specifications: Weight: 154g, Dimensions: (146 x 72 x 7.3mm), OS: Android 6.0.1, Screen size: 5.2-inch, Resolution: (1080 x 1920) CPU: Snapdragon 810 RAM: 3GB Storage: 32GB Battery: 2900 mAh. The second device is a Samsung S9 which has the

following specifications: height 5.81" (147.7 mm), width 2.7" (68.7 mm), depth 33" (8.5 mm), and weights (163 g), and screen size 5.8" (147.3 mm).

2.6.2 Smartphone Sensors

In most smartphones devices, there are a variety of sensors: Compass Magnetometer, Proximity sensor, Accelerometer, Ambient light sensor, and Gyroscope (Su et al. 2014). Recently, manufactured smartphone devices have adopted micro technologies to determine device orientation such as gyroscope accelerometers and micro electromechanical systems (MEMS) (Baldini et al. 2016). This research has focused solely on the efficiency of the accelerometer. Consequently, the review is focused on the one sensor of the Android application.

The accelerometer comprises up to three accelerometers, one for each axis-x, y, and z as illustrated in Figure 2.7 (Yousefian 2017). Each one calculates changes in the speed over time along a linear path. Combining all three accelerometers, the movement of the device in any direction and the current orientation of the device can be detected.



Figure 2.7: The accelerometer measures changes along the x, y, and z-axes.

The MEMS accelerometers in smartphone devices can provide accurate data of user's movements and may be helpful for gait analysis, evaluation, validation and monitoring (Tian & Chen 2016). Nishiguchi et al. (2012) evaluated the accuracy and validity of a smartphone accelerometer. The obtained outcomes by the smartphone showed statistically significant and reasonable agreement with the same parameter results obtained by the tri-axial accelerometer. Similarly, Chan et al. (2011) studied the abilities of the accelerometer in a smart mobile device for determination of gait events from walking over a flat surface. The outcomes confirm that it is possible to obtain features from the accelerometer of an iPhone such as step detection, stride time and cadence. Galán-Mercant et al. (2014) have further evaluated the reliability and accuracy of the accelerations with a smartphone in an Extended Timed Get Up and Go test. The results show that the internal sensor in the iPhone device is sufficiently accurate and reliable to validate and evaluate the kinematic patterns.

These studies have shown acceptable results which can enhance the smartphones' reliability for gait analysis. In addition, the built-in sensors of these smartphones devices can be as acceptable as IMUs. Thus, this research has explored the use of smartphones devices to analyse the walking measurements in real time for the estimation in gait analysis.

2.7 Summary

This chapter addresses the importance of studying human movement and gait characteristics. Also, this chapter demonstrates that many studies have used different methods and techniques to analyse human movements and gait characteristics the literature review shows that many studies have used photogrammetry techniques in science and engineering to make accurate 3D measurements of objects. Also, this research explained the gait analysis methods that are using in gait studies such as non-wearable devices and wearable devices. The advantages and disadvantages of both methods are explained in detail.

This section also found that by using smartphone sensors, gait research has continued to expand in the last decade. However, there is a lack of research investigating close-range photogrammetry with smartphones in terms of kinematics and need to develop a new technique to evaluate the spatiotemporal parameters via using accelerometers sensors measures. Therefore, the current work aims to fill this research gap by providing an understanding of the gait study methods, using new strategies and different ideas. This aim has been achieved by applying a set of objectives to introduce a new technique for evaluating smartphone sensor devices in chapter 3. The first objective is to determine the suitability measures obtainable from Smartphone devices and comparing captured data with camera image-based photogrammetric data.

The second objective develops a new methodology for smartphone sensor devices to analyse spatiotemporal gait parameters. The third objective is to determine the suitability of new gait parameters characteristics to identify and the relationship between Smartphone and Insole sensors. Finally, this study evaluated and validated the performance's quality of the proposed method by using different statistical methods and comparing the results of the innovative methodology with those of the most used methods in published works.

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

3.1 Overview

This chapter describes how the objectives of the research were achieved. The main focus is the introduction of new protocols to collect accurate human gait data using cameras, smartphones and insole sensors.

This chapter has two parts. The first part (Section 3.2) begins by describing the methods applied to study the kinematics (distance and positions) of lower limbs during walking in the frontal plane. The structure of the measurements systems is illustrated in Section 3.2.1. The gait protocol used to perform camera calibration and capture photogrammetry data is explained in Sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3. The smartphone calibration is then performed in Section 3.2.4, and data acquisition is illustrated in Section 3.2.5. The experimental measurements and analyses are addressed in Section 3.2.6. The methods reported in this part achieve the first objective. The second part of the chapter includes the methods applied to study the new evaluation methodology comparing smartphone accelerometer sensors and insole shoes sensors (Section 3.3.1), equipment (Section 3.3.2), participants' characteristics (Section 3.3.4), data collection (Section 3.3.5), and statistical analysis (Section 3.3.6).

This chapter also describes the materials and devices used during the data collecting procedures. The sampling strategy and conditions of participants are also introduced. The second part reports on the achievement of the second and third objectives

This research seeks to develop a new set of body wear-based (wearable) biomechanical measures for gait characteristics study. The system includes video cameras and smartphone accelerometer sensors. The set of body wear is verified by calculating data from the accelerometer sensors embedded in the smartphone and digital camera data. Then, data from the smartphone sensors and camera images is compared. Figure 3.1 shows the steps followed in the research methodology.



Figure 3.1: Research methodology outline (first part of methodology)

3.2 Kinematics (distance and positions)

3.2.1 Subjects and case description

To develop and evaluate the idea of the first part of this research, 10 male individuals aged between 30 and 45 years, weight 70-90 kg were recruited in the study as shown in Table 3.1. Participant weight is either in the normal range (Body Mass Index falls within a weight range that is not associated with an increased risk for weight-related diseases and health issues) or 20kg or more overweight. Participants had no previous injuries, trauma, illness or any related disorders.

Individual participants were fitted with the smartphone device around their right leg. Each subject was asked to walk two steps at their normal walking speed, and data was gathered. At the beginning of the test, the subject will turn on the program (inbox tool) manually and then start walking and record data for the test.

Participants	Height(cm)	Weight(kg)	Age
Subject 1	176	80	45
Subject 2	185	100	42
Subject 3	173	90	36
Subject 4	171	93	33
Subject 5	178	81	30
Subject 6	177	82	30
Subject 7	176	71	34
Subject 8	174	81	35
Subject 9	179	84	40
Subject 10	168	70	38

 Table 3.1: Participants' characteristics

This research will develop a new set of body wear-based (wearable) biomechanical measures for gait characteristic study. The system used in this research includes video cameras and smartphone accelerometer sensors. The set of body wear is verified by calculating data from the accelerometer sensors embedded in the smartphone and digital camera data, and compares the data from the smartphone sensors and camera images data. Figure 3.1 shows the steps followed in the first part of the research methodology.

3.2.2 Research protocol

To develop and evaluate the idea of the first part of this research, 10 normal males aged between 25 and 35 years were recruited. Their weight was in the normal range (Body Mass Index falls within a weight range that is not associated with an increased risk for weight-related diseases and health issues) or 20kg overweight. They were fitted with a smartphone around the right leg. Each subject was asked to walk

two steps at their normal walking speed, and data was gathered from each subject. At the beginning of the test, each subject turned on the program (inbox tool) manually and commenced walking, and the test data was recorded for each subject. The use of human subjects in this research was approved by the University of Southern Queensland Human Research Ethics Committee (No H20REA267).

3.2.3 Camera calibration and photogrammetric data capture

3.2.3.1 Camera calibration

Camera calibration is considered a vital stage in photogrammetric studies to improve the accuracy of the measured coordinates (x, y) of an image. For this reason, in this study, four JVC cameras were calibrated by finding the interior orientation parameters (X_0, Y_0, F) , radial distortion parameters (K_1, K_2, K_3) and lens alignment (P_1, P_2, P_3) to obtain accurate results. The selected cameras were calibrated individually using a self-calibration technique (Remondino & Fraser 2006; Udin & Ahmad 2011) with an object distance of 900 mm as shown in Figure 3.2. The test-field used to calibrate the camcorders consisted of a grid of 10 rows and 10 columns of steel pins (100 pins in total) which were attached to a polycarbonate board of 12 mm thickness. The pins had different elevations ranging from 10 mm to 60 mm above the surface of the board, and retro-reflective targets of 5 mm diameter were attached on each pin. The RMS tolerance specified for the target coordinates were 0.05 mm across the X, Y and Z axes for each of the camcorders.

Calibration was also required as the lens parameter values were required for the subsequent photogrammetric application (Chong et al. 2008). In calibration, nine sets of convergent video clips of the test-field were captured from four different camera station positions, individual frames were extracted from the clips, and the frames were processed using the off-the-shelf camera calibration software, Australis®. Result of camera parameter after run the bundle in the Australis program are clarified in Appendix B2.



Figure 3.2: Camera calibration target board

The PLPC (Principle Lens Parameter Computation) technique (Chong 2011) was used to determine the lens parameters during an imaging session, as shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Focal length where xp and yp are the coordinates of a point in the camera coordinate system and c=focal length (Chong 2011)

3.2.3.2 Video camera recording data

Capturing video clips for the legs and thighs during gait was achieved using a close-range photogrammetric system (CRPS), as shown in Figure 3.4, using four HD Panasonic Lumix video cameras. These video cameras were utilised to extract clear frame (image) as related to the smartphone testing. The researcher converted the frames into 3D modelling to obtain the 3D coordinates of the target.



Figure 3.4: Four digital HD Panasonic Lumix cameras

3.2.4 Smartphone accelerometer calibration

Sensor calibration is a method of improving sensor performance by removing structure errors in the sensor outputs (Li et al. 2015). Many researchers have developed different calibration techniques for the proposed sensor output model. For example, Bekkeng (2009) evaluated gyro parameters through a Kalman filter using a computer controlled rate table and a homemade temperature chamber. Olivares et al. (2009) used a rotation plate and an automatic level topographic instrument.

In this research, the smartphone accelerometer sensor calibrations were achieved using a motion capture system. To reach the sensor calibration by motion capture system, optoelectronic cameras were used to collect 3D data. Ten Qualisys computerised motion analysis system (Qualisys 2.14, Gothenburg, Sweden) infrared motion cameras were utilised for testing at the Gait Laboratory at the University of Southern Queensland as shown in Figure 3.5. The MCS-based motion capture system is increasingly applied to the continuous indoor and outdoor ambulatory motion measurements in the daily life. Three cameras were positioned at the back of the walkway, three cameras at the front of the walkway, and two cameras on each side of the walkway. These cameras were designed to obtain the three-dimensional coordinates of the retro-reflective markers that were positioned on the smartphone screen. This calibration was started by putting one target on the smartphone screen at the same position of the smartphone accelerometer sensor and dropping the smartphone to the ground where the motion capture cameras captured it as seen in Figures 3.6 and 3.7. A motion capture system works with specific targets so we need to use this target to read the phone movement.

After that, 3D data was collected from both the smartphone sensor and the motion capture system. Qualisys Track Manager Software was used to collect the 3D data of the motion capture system. Qualysis track manager setting up process and specifications described in Appendix B1.



Figure 3.5: Setup of motion capture system

3.2.4.1 Correlation sensor and motion capture system data

In this work, the sensor data during movement should be the same as the data that comes from the motion capture system (MCS). However, the first frame in the sensor reading (Xs, Ys, Zs) will not be the same as the first frame (MCS) (Xc, Yc, Zc) because the start time measurement is different. The sensors' coordinates will be generated from the output measurements of MCS as shown in Figure 3.8. The 3D Conformal Transformation method was adopted as the mathematical method to connect both systems.



Figure 3.6: Motion capture system with side view capture



Figure 3.7: Motion capture system with front view capture



Figure 3.8: Motion capture system simulated sensor

3.2.5 DATA ACQUISITION

The data was stored on an Android phone and analysed offline through the extraction of features in time and frequency. The current study employed a smartphone sensor accelerometer. This sensor was located next to the lower limb of the body; the right leg of each subject's body. Smartphones were placed there because "the human body is made out of numerous exceedingly adaptable fragments, and the upper body movement of people is particularly complicated as far as precision estimations" (Liu et al. 2007). Accelerometer data was measured by a tri-axial which provided simultaneous measurements in three orthogonal directions for analysis of all of the vibrations being experienced by a structure. These sensors were located on the front side of the leg in front of the camera as presented in Figure 3.9 A and B. In addition, smartphone sensors can provide a variety of valuable data. For instance, a device can recognise a subject's physical activity, such as walking or running, by analysing accelerometer data. This information can be collected over a period to identify daily habits.

Figure 3.9 A and B shows the collected camera data. Two photogrammetric control boards were installed at the left and right of the floor mat to provide a control for the camera resection with scaling. The coordinates of the target in the two boards were calculated with a bundle adjustment technique. The captured digital images of the different dimensions of the calibration plate were downloaded to a PC with Australis software (v 6.06). This method enabled calibration, avoidance of lens distortion errors and determination of foot axis using a bundle adjustment.

These data were recorded when the red light installed in the right board and connected to the sensor in the floor mat (as displayed in Figure 3.9 A) came on. To increase the accuracy of the synchronization time between the smartphone, camera and floor mat we used a timer plus the light as shown in Figure 3.9 B. Data collection began when the heel-down portion pressed on the floor mat and continued until the toe-off portion of the gait. Appendix B3 illustrates the 25 photographs of one step for one subject from one camera only from the heel strike to toe off.



Figure 3.9: A and B: Collection smartphone sensors and camera data

3.2.5.1 Accelerometer sensor data

Accelerometer sensors measure the acceleration forces acting on an object in order to determine the object's position in space and monitor the object's movement. To collect data, an accelerometer analyzer application was used to capture the accelerometer data. This application provided the speed, which was 50Hz in this research. It also provided the x-axis, y-axis and z-axis. These axes represent the horizontal/sideways movement of the participant (x-axis), upward/downward movement (y-axis), and forward/backward movement (z-axis). Figure 3.10 explains these axes which are related to a subject. Each accelerometer axis provides a signal which provides a frame. Every test was labeled with subject's name and test's time. In this research we used the positive peak in the acceleration signal in the interior-posterior direction as the instant of heel contact (Brandes et al. 2006).





Figure 3.10: Sample acceleration signals for walking. Normal gait (A) and disability gait (B)

3.2.6 Experimental measurements and analyses

Investigation involved measuring the motion gait of a participant's leg during a movement, and determining the type and accuracy of data obtained from the sensors. Depending on the idea of this research, it can be divided into two phases. First, the researcher compared data obtained from the camera and sensor to evaluate the accelerometer measurement. Four Panasonic Lumix cameras were used to record participants' movements. Therefore, images were extracted from video cameras. These images were converted into 3D modelling to obtain the 3D coordinates of targets (Xc, Yc, Zc). The other device, sensors embedded in smartphones, provided three coordinates (Xs, Ys, Zs). Throughout the gait cycles, several frames were created depending on the sensor readings. Despite the limitations of this research in synchronising sensors with digital cameras and using commercial sensors, the preliminary results suggested that the implementation of sensor measurements was indeed feasible. The following steps of Experiment 1 included:

- 1- Fix the target on the smartphone
- 2- Fix the smartphone to the subject's leg
- 3- Calibrate the camera
- 4- Let the subject walk
- 5- Record the data from cameras' sensors
- 6- Analyse and evaluate the data.

3.3 Temporal spatial parameters

3.3.1 Overview

Spatiotemporal gait parameters are related to adverse health issues such as risk of fall (Kalron & Achiron 2014; Bang & Shin 2016). Recently, gait analysis researchers have used different instruments to evaluate gait parameters to study the risk of falling. Several technologies utilise insoles for specially designed shoes (Howell et al. 2013). An insole sensor was shown to be suitable to determine human movement parameters such as the stance and swing phases (Martínez-Martí et al. 2014). The insole sensor is also able to measure a number of spatiotemporal gait parameters: swing time, stride length, step time and cadence (Noshadi et al. 2014). Other studies using insole pressure sensor data enabled the planning of ways to reduce plantar pressure among diabetic patients (Zequera & Solomonidis 2010). Thus, the purpose of the second part of the research methodology was to: 1) investigate two smartphones in determining spatiotemporal gait parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed) and 2) evaluate the validity of a smartphone-based tri-axial accelerometer to assess gait characteristics. The second part of the research methodology is outlined in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.11: Research methodology outline (second part)

3.3.2 Equipment

To perform the second part of our research we used two types of equipment (two insole sensors and two smartphones Samsung S9).

3.3.2.1 The plantar pressure measurement system (insole sensors)

The plantar pressure measurement system is comprised of:

a- 3000E F-scan in-shoe sensors sampling at 100 Hz to capture COP excursions in the anterior-posterior (AP) and mediolateral (ML) directions as shown in Figure 3.12. From these, contact area, direction of sway, distance, direction travelled by the COP, and variability of distance travelled by the COP was obtained using F-Scan Research ver. 6.70-03 software

b- Small size and 0.5 mm thickness force pressure sensors were used to measure the load between the ground support and human foot (Noce 2005; Rana 2009) as shown in Figure 3.13. These thin sensors are sufficient to enable non-intrusive measurements and are ideal for measuring the forces and pressure without testing the dynamics of the subjects. Appendix C1 provides more details about the insole sensor specification.

In this research Force Resistance Sensors (FRS) were selected due to their electronic simplicity, inexpensiveness, moderate accuracy (better than \pm 5% of full use force (780 kPa)) and ability to observe the load of the foot during gait (slow or fast walking and running) (Noce 2005).



Figure 3.12: Insole sensor



Figure 3.13: In-shoe pressure system

3.3.2.2 Smartphone Samsung S9

As shown in Figure 3.14, the Samsung Galaxy S9 has a height of 5.81" (147.7 mm), width of 2.7" (68.7 mm), depth of 33" (8.5 mm), weight of 163 g and screen size of 5.8" (147.3 mm). The application used in our research was inbox tools as shown in Figure 3.15.



Figure 3.14: Samsung Galaxy S9



Figure 3.15: Physics tool app with linear accelerometer reading

3.3.3 Participants

In the second part of this research, 20 healthy adult subjects aged between 20 and 40 years were recruited. Their mass and height were 60 to 95 kg and 156 to 180cm, respectively, as presented in Tables 3.2 and 3.3. All walked continuously for at least 10 meters without help or assistance devices. Some demographic properties were obtained from each participant: age, gender, height, weight and shoe size. All subjects gave written consent at the beginning of the trials. A human ethics application was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of Southern Queensland (No H20REA267).

Participants	Height/cm	Weight/kg	Age
Subject 1	176	80	45
Subject 2	185	100	42
Subject 3	173	90	36
Subject 4	171	93	33
Subject 5	178	81	30
Subject 6	177	82	30
Subject 7	176	71	34
Subject 8	174	81	35
Subject 9	179	84	40
Subject 10	168	70	38

Table 3.2: Demographics for group of 10 males

Participants	Height/cm	Weight/kg	Age
Subject 1	159	62	19
Subject 2	168	50	22
Subject 3	164	69	24
Subject 4	168	69	27
Subject 5	164	29	25
Subject 6	165	69	23
Subject 7	166	68	27
Subject 8	168	64	24
Subject 9	169	60	23
Subject 10	170	55	21

Table 3.3: Demographics for group of 10 females

3.3.4 Data collection and processing

After consent, the subjects were asked to walk along a 10-meters long walkway for a short warm-up trial. Before recording of the trial, each participant was given three minutes to practice the procedure, thus minimising walking errors without alteration of step characteristics. Data were collected for the gait spatiotemporal parameters: step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed. In the trial, the participant was shown a standard gait procedure from standing position to stepping onto the floor using the 3000E F-scan in-shoe sensors sampling at 100 Hz. After inserting the 3000E F-scan in-shoe sensors inside the subject's shoes (Figure 3.16) five walking trials were recorded for each subject. Nine steps were collected per straight-line walk for each of the five trials. In order to collect high accuracy plantar pressure data, the average of the three middle steps was taken from the nine steps for each trial, see Figures 3.1.7 and 3.1.8. The best trial recordings were chosen for processing using F-scan research software. In other words, we choose the clearest outcome data from the insole sensor after check the reading stable.



Figure 3.16: A and B: An example for two people wearing insole sensors and smartphones during the test



Figure 3.17: Trial with nine steps of the accelerometer for one subject



Figure 3.18: Nine steps from F-scan of insole sensor

The smartphone was attached to each subject's lower limbs in order to collect spatial parameter data. The tests were completed and the data were collected simultaneously for both the smartphones and insoles sensors. The differences were detected, and some basic features of both patterns for the insole sensor and accelerometer sensor could be observed. First, the insole pattern in forward and upward directions was more stable most of the time because its work depended on the leg pressure sensor. For the smartphone, the pattern showed more stable steps in 5-7 (as shown in Figure 3.17) because the accelerometer data depended on the walk. In other words, acceleration change was small at the beginning and end of walking. Moreover, the smartphone accelerometer forward and upward directions data show some noise and negative signals in the pattern, but we used the positive signals only.

The change of sign of the positive peak in the acceleration signal in the anterior-posterior direction was taken as the instant of the foot contact Ducharme et al. (2018). In steps time and stride time the data calculated the average of the time for the three middle steps (5-7) steps. The time of these three steps was added and divided by 3, and the same was done for stride time but for three strides. The processing of cadence was calculated based on the equation stated in the work of Silsupadol et al. (2017). The walking speed was computed by dividing the distance along the entire walkway over the time. Finally, to validate the accelerometer's ability to detect the number of steps, the subject walked nine steps depending on the lap distance on a flat floor indoors with no obstacles nearby.

3.3.5 Statistical analysis

A repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used with the four factors with a post-hoc Bonferroni correction to determine statistical differences (mean differences) between each two factors (conditions). The P value would be significant if it was less than 0.025, according to the analytical regression equations of (Perneger, 1998).

Mean, standard deviation and interclass correlation coefficient measures were applied in this study to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. Those measures were computed for each subject's trials and then the average of the mean, standard deviation and interclass correlation coefficient were collocated. Interclass correlation coefficients (ICC) using for comparison between the two systems for all four parameters.

Blind-Altman plots were used to provide the bias and limit of agreement (LOA) between smartphone sensor and insole sensor data, as well as to evaluate the developed study method.

To assess the validity between the insole sensors and smartphones for each trial, the Pearson correlation was also used in this analysis. To investigate the effectiveness of the smartphones as opposed to the insole sensors in determining spatiotemporal gait parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed), box plots were used based on the Pearson correlation coefficient. The box plots consist of three parts: upper, lower and middle. The upper part of the plot box denotes the 75th percentile, the lower part denotes the 25th percentile, while the central part refers to the median 50th percentile which is sometimes called the centre.

For further evaluation of the study, the behaviours of the smartphones and insole sensors were analysed and tested for spatiotemporal gait parameters using R-squared (R^2) .

3.4 Summary

This chapter demonstrates a new developed methodology for conducting human gait analysis. It also introduces new protocols for collecting gait accelerometer measures, photogrammetry images and spatiotemporal data with higher accuracy. This research illustrates how to determine and evaluate smartphone accelerometer technology to replace current photogrammetry techniques using imaging sensors. It also illustrates how to collect and process the data of spatiotemporal human gait parameters for four devices (two smartphones and two insole sensors) of different groups using a cohort of 30 adults. Finally, this chapter explained the experimental measurement and analysis of the first and second parts of this research.

CHAPTER 4: TRIAL RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

4.1 Introduction

Human movement and gait characteristics have been studied using a variety of devices such as cameras and pressure and force sensors. These devices, however, have some disadvantages such as cost of purchase, space requirements and processing time. Scientists are currently interested to develop new measurement methods based on advanced electronic technology.

This chapter presents the results of the research based on the methodology introduced in Chapter 3. The first part of this chapter represents the achievement of the first objective (to which we referred in Chapter 1). The accelerometer measurements obtained from smartphone devices and new camera and smartphone sensor measurement data results are presented in Section 4.2. These results achieve Objective 1. They validate the accuracy of the presented method. Vertical distance was measured during the main phases of gait from heel strike to toe-off. An analysis and comparison of the photogrammetry, accelerometer and floor mat sensor data shows that it is more accurate and that this accuracy is significant.

The second part of this chapter presents the results of the new methodology for the smartphone sensor device to analyse spatiotemporal gait parameters to achieve Objective 2. We investigated the use of two smartphones to determine spatiotemporal gait parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed) by collecting spatiotemporal human gait parameter data with four devices (smartphones and insole sensors) for different groups using a cohort of 30 adults. To achieve the third and fourth research objectives we determined the effectiveness of the characteristics of the gait parameters to identify the relationship between smartphone and insole sensors and used different statistical methods to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Version 24 and Excel 2010.

4.2 Evaluating smartphone accelerometer for existing and new measurement

Smartphone accelerometer and camera data were record and computed based on the method explained in part one of the methodology chapter. The researcher tested the sensors by choosing an application to capture sensor data of speed, accuracy and types of file to make the analysis of data easier and quicker. Also, the researcher found the accelerometer data may affected by the mounting of the sensor depends on the sensor model. For that, different examine have been achieved in this research to check the ability of the smartphone sensor to recognise the gait parameters. Next, the researcher tested the accelerometer by putting a smartphone on the leg of an individual who then walked. At the same time, digital cameras were used to record the individual walking.

It is not clear if the inconsistency in data verification is affected by the walking activities or by the mounting of the sensor.

In this test we used 10 frames for each subject's gait, and the results show that the output data for both the sensors and the cameras are almost the same: Figures 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3. Each figure represents the target movement for each step, starting from the heel strike and ending in the toe off. The distance between the heel strike and tow off is calculated using equation (1)

D=distance

 (x_1, y_1) = coordinates of the first point

 (x_2, y_2) = coordinates of the second point

Regrading to the above equation the outcome showed five frames as shown in Figurers (4.1-4.3). The aim was to experiment new technique throughout testing fewer subjects. The following results were mainly focused on measuring position and distance in x and y direction of the frontal plane.

In the following figures we see good agreement between the accelerometer data and photogrammetry data. In terms of knee movement, each subject has a different movement form heel strike to toe-off. In Figure 4.1 shows the high agreement in the first movement but start to be slightly different when the subject move. Notably, Figure 4.2 shows a distinct difference from starting with a step whilst still the same movement for both readings (photogrammetry and accelerometer sensor). This could be because of the synchronization of movement initiation for both devices so the camera captures data before the smartphone accelerometer. The figures below show the consistency of the obtained results, with each of the following figures representing one subject. The accelerometer and photogrammetry show that the vertically measured distance was approximately similar.



Figure 4.1: Subject 1 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data

For the third participant, we can see the high agreement between both readings in the phases of complete step (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.2: Subject 2 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data



Figure 4.3: Subject 3 accelerometer sensor data versus photogrammetry data

To further validate the accuracy of our technique, 10 healthy males, with no issues that could in any way affect their gait, were recruited for study in gait phases from heel strike to toe-off. The trials were recorded for each person and the results (mean and standard deviation) of the right foot are displayed in Table 4.1.

The 25 frames of gait were divided into five phases (heel strike, loading response, midstance, heel-off, and toe-off) and the number of frames between each two phases were different according to limb position. Figures 4.4 to 4.13 represent the knee movement for each subject (each figure is comprised of two parts: A and B). A provides camera photos

extracted from the video for each subject's movements. Each spot in the figure represents the 3D coordinates of the target. B represents the accelerometer sensor reading frames of the smartphone.

The mean, SD and R values for heel strike, loading response, midstance, heel-off and toeoff for each subject are summarized in Tables 4.1 to 4.10. Heel strike, loading response, midstance, heel-off and toe-off stride from the two devices gave excellent agreement (R value >0.90) in most of the results.

For Subjects 1 and 2, the heel strike phase shows less agreement between the photogrammetry and accelerometer data, but the agreement increases until the toe-off phase (Figure 4.4 A and B and Figure 4.5 A and B). Figure 4.6 A and B represent Subject 3's data and shows less agreement in loading response, heel–off and heel strike (R= 0.63, 0.75 and 0.78) respectively as shown in table 4.3. Subject 4's data results show high agreement between both data (R> 0.87) in all phases except the Midstance (R=0.73), see Figure 4.7 and table 4.4. Furthermore, Figure 4.8 represent the movement of subject 5 and it shows less agreement in the heel strike phase where (R= 0.75) table 4.5, but subject 6 has less agreement in heel-off as shown in table 4.6 . For Subjects 7 and 10, the data shows high agreement with (R \ge 0.89) in all phases. See Figures 4.10 and 4.13, and Tables 4.7 and 4.10. Only the heel-strike and Midstance phases showed less agreement (R= 0.68 and R=67) in subject 8, while in Subject 9 (R> 80) in all phases as shown in table 4.9. All the above results show some differences in agreement between the photogrammetric and accelerometer obtained data in some phases such as heel strike, Midstance and loading response, which may be due to the way of walking or the gait posture.




Figure 4.4: 25 frames for photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for first subject.

 Table 4.1: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in the load

Variables	Photogramme	try Accelerome	ter R
	technique (m	n) measure(m	ı)
	Mean SD	Mean S	D
Heel strike	1.50 0.21	1.35 0.2	21 0.64
Loading response	2.96 0.52	1.62 0.2	8 0.87
Midstance	4.08 0.32	3.53 0.4	4 0.90
Heel off	5.57 0.25	5.13 0.5	6 0.91
Toe off	6.45 0.31	7.89 1.2	5 0.95

phases of gait for first subject.



Figure 4.5: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) sensors for second subject.

Variables	Photogra techniq	ummetry ue (m)	Acceler measur	ometer re (m)	R
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Heel strike	1.91	0.48	1.38	0.50	0.75
Loading response	2.54	0.43	1.21	0.28	0.83
Midstance	4.14	0.42	1.24	0.38	0.94
Heel off	5.89	0.56	2.26	0.21	0.99
Toe off	8.60	1.53	4.99	1.43	0.98

Table 4.2: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load

 phases of gait for second subject



Figure 4.6: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) sensors for third subject

phases of gait for third subject	ot		
Variables	Photogrammetry technique (m)	Accelerometer measures (m)	R
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	0.76 0.31	0.68 0.32	0.78
Loading response	2.10 0.21	0.88 0.11	0.63

1.77

0.72

1.69

5.46

8.20

9.79

Midstance

Heel off

Toe off

0.86

0.09

1.29

2.70

3.39

6.40

0.83

0.75

0.94

Table 4.3: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load

 phases of gait for third subject



Figure 4.7: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) sensors for fourth subject.

phases of gait for four	th subject				
Variables	Photogra techniq	mmetry ue(m)	Acceler measur	ometer res(m)	R
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Heel strike	1.44	0.34	0.92	0.26	0.96
Loading response	2.66	0.42	0.92	0.30	0.88
Midstance	2.77	0.92	2.20	0.82	0.73
Heel off	6.48	2.10	6.17	1.41	0.95
Toe off	9.20	1.10	6.83	0.48	0.89

 Table 4.4: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load



Figure 4.8: Vertical and horizontal positions for 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for fifth subject.

Variables	Dhata ananana atmy	A acalamamatan	D
phases of gait for fifth subject.			
Table 4.5: Correlation between p	hotogrammetry and a	ccelerometer measures in	ı load

Variables	Photogra techniq	mmetry ue(m)	Acceler measu	rometer res(m)	R
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Heel strike	1.24	0.39	1.15	0.49	0.75
Loading response	2.52	0.23	2.15	0.41	0.88
Midstance	3.03	0.74	2.76	0.67	0.98
Heel off	8.04	1.20	8.27	2.81	0.83
Toe off	12.58	1.23	12.89	0.55	0.96



Figure 4.9: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measure (B) for sixth subject.

	-		
Variables	Photogrammetry	Accelerometer	R
	technique(m)	measure(m)	IX
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	1.41 0.21	0.26 0.13	0.93
Loading response	1.29 0.30	0.94 0.22	0.99
Midstance	1.90 0.36	1.52 0.29	0.99
Heel-off	2.79 0.47	2.00 0.29	0.79
Toe-off	4.50 1.20	3.95 1.05	0.99

Table 4.6: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measure in load

 phases of gait for sixth subject



Figure 4.10: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for seventh subject.

Variables	Photogrammetry technique(m)	Accelerometer measures(m)	R
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	1.09 0.67	0.57 0.36	0.98
Loading response	2.07 0.31	1.24 0.19	0.98
Midstance	3.17 0.37	1.91 0.23	0.97
Heel off	3.78 0.57	2.91 0.44	0.96
Toe off	6.87 0.44	5.98 0.81	0.93

Table 4.7: Correlation between photogrammetry and accelerometer measures in load

 phases of gait for seventh subject





Table 4.8: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measure in	load
phases of gait for eighth subject.	

Variables	Photogrammetry technique(m)	Accelerometer measure(m)	R
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	1.32 0.10	0.78 0.08	0.68
Loading response	1.42 0.56	0.82 0.16	0.98
Midstance	2.74 0.18	1.37 0.14	0.67
Heel off	5.34 1.06	2.93 0.63	0.85
Toe off	8.98 0.73	8.26 3.80	0.99



Figure 4.12: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for ninth subject.

Variables	Photogrammetry technique(m)	Accelerometer measure(m)	R
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	0.96 0.49	1.26 0.69	0.98
Loading response	2.72 0.90	2.08 0.66	0.98
Midstance	4.95 0.75	3.33 1.06	0.95
Heel off	6.29 0.13	3.99 0.59	0.81
Toe off	8.40 0.89	8.17 1.28	0.99

Table 4.9: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measures in load

 phases of gait for ninth subject.



Figure 4.13: 25 frames of photogrammetry (A) and accelerometer measures (B) for tenth subject.

Variables	Photogrammetry technique(m)	Accelerometer measure(m)	R
	Mean SD	Mean SD	
Heel strike	0.97 0.53	1.08 0.58	0.99
Loading response	1.47 0.30	2.09 0.42	0.99
Midstance	3.88 1.59	4.25 0.80	0.89
Heel off	6.22 0.52	5.65 0.47	0.98
Toe off	10.15 1.55	9.63 1.84	0.99

Table 4.10: Correlation between photogrammetry and Accelerometer measures in load

 phases of gait for tenth subject

In summary, from the obtained results, we can notice that specific opportunities exist for smartphone-based gait assessment as an alternative to conventional gait assessment. Furthermore, a smartphone-based gait assessment could provide reliable information about changes in the spatiotemporal gait parameters.

4.3 Spatiotemporal gait parameters

In this part of our research, a number of experiments were conducted to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. Smartphone data based on accelerometer and Fscan were used in this study. As mentioned in Section 3.3.1, the purpose of the second part of the research methodology was to: Validate the smartphone sensor device by analysing spatiotemporal gait parameters. The quality of the new validated method can demonstrated by collecting spatiotemporal human gait parameter data for four devices (two smartphones and two insole sensors) with different groups using a cohort of 30 adults. Beside, determine the effectiveness of the characteristics of the gait parameters to identify and relationship between Smartphone and Insole sensors. In addition, we used different statistical method to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. The first test dataset was calculated from 10 subjects. The dataset for each subject was divided into three trials, and each participant walked 10m. The mean, standard deviation and interclass correlation coefficient measures were applied to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. These measures were computed for each subject and the average of the means, standard deviations and interclass correlation coefficients were calculated. Data were analysed with SPSS 23.0 (IBM Inc) and Excel 2013.

4.3.1 Performance quality of the developed method based on reliability and validity

During walking trials, the results showed values closer or similar to those recorded by the insole shoes and smartphone for all four parameters (step time, stride time, Candace and walking speed). Table 4.11 shows the average measure for all subjects. Reliability using the mean and SD was used to evaluate the proposed approach. These measures were recorded for using both insole and smartphone devices. Based on the obtained results presented in Table 4.11, we can see that the minimum SD was achieved when the smartphone device was used.

		Parameters														
Measures		Step	time (s)			Strid	e time(s)			Cadence(steps/min)	Walking speed (m/s)			
	Ins	sole	Acceler	rometer sure	Insole	e shoes	Accele	rometer re	Insole	e shoes	Accele	rometer	In: sh	sole oes	Acceler	rometer
		000	liicu				incusu							000	ince	
	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R	L	R
Mean	0.74	0.75	0.78	0.85	1.29	1.3	1.31	1.33	50.85	46.17	45.8	45.34	0.92	0.91	0.91	0.91
SD	0.02	0.03	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.07	2.74	1.76	1.46	2.38	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.03

Table 4.11: Average of mean and SD for 10 subjects with four parameters.

To investigate the effectiveness of the characteristics of the four factors of gait to identify the relationship between smartphone and insole shoes, the mean and SD measurements were used in this study, as shown in Figures 4.14, 4.15, 4.16 and 4.17. Figures 4.14 represented the mean and SD for the Insole sensor data for left step. Figure 4.15 represented the mean and SD for the accelerometer measure data for left step for 10 subjects. Figure 4:16 and 4:17 represented the Mean and standard deviation for four factors (right steps) for 10 subject for insole sensors data and accelerometer data respectively. From the obtained results, we can see that the four parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed) for left and right legs have reported a good results in term of SD. Based on the literature, the smartphone's obtained results indicate that the four parameters can be used to assess gait. The gait spatiotemporal parameters extracted from the smartphone device showed a good agreement compared to the insole shoes sensor.



Figure 4.14: Mean and standard deviation for four factors insole sensors data (left step) for 10 subject.



Figure 4.15: Mean and standard deviation for four factors accelerometer data (left steps) for 10 subject.



Figure 4.16: Mean and standard deviation for four factors insole sensors data (right steps) for 10 subject.



Figure 4.17: Mean and standard deviation for four factors accelerometer data (right steps) for 10 subject.

Regarding validity, the interclass correlation coefficient was employed in this study to evaluate the performance of the proposed method. Four spatio-temporal gait parameters of ten subjects were determined using two smartphones and two insole shoes.

Our findings show that there were some differences in the trials but they did not affect our results. The main reason for this is the gait time may vary for the same subject in each trial. In addition, the results of both devices (insole shoes and smartphones) show that the maximum time for the four parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed) of all subjects was 0.85s, 1.33s, 50.58_{min} and 0.92m/s respectively. These results demonstrate that the smartphone has the ability to record good reliability measures for gait assessment.

The interclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for the four parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed) was calculated. We used the following value to check agreement between the device results: .90 to 1.00 as very high, 0.70 to 0.90 as high, and 0.50 to 0.70 as moderate, 0.30 to 0.50 as low, and less than 0.30 as insignificant. These metrics and ranges of values were used by Mukaka (2012), Muheidat et al. (2017) and Howell et al. (2020).

The ICC was computed for 10 subjects, and the average for each subject was calculated. The ICC was used to evaluate the validity of the smartphone device. Tables 4.12, 4.13.4.14 and 4.15 show the ICC results using the four parameters. The ICC showed closer readings between the smartphones and insole shoes.

The step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed achieved excellent to fair results of ICC among all the subjects with an average ICC 41-96. Based on the literature, the ICC in this study is acceptable.

Finally, the proposed approach using smartphone and insole achieves the best performance in terms of the mean, SD and ICC. This smartphone method can help researchers in recording gait characteristics such as step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed with accurate and reliable results, and it potentially reduces the costs of obtaining data.

	Left ste		Right			
Subject	Insole	Accelerometer Measures		Insole	Accelerometer Measures	
s ID	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	ICC	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	ICC
ID1	0.74±0.02	0.78 ± 0.06	0.75	0.74±0.03	0.85±0.05	0.88
ID2	0.74 ± 0.02	0.81 ± 0.05	0.71	0.77 ± 0.04	0.8 ± 0.04	0.71
ID3	0.71±0.11	$0.69{\pm}0.08$	0.96	0.73±0.11	0.85±0.11	0.93
ID4	0.737±0.017	0.77 ± 0.02	0.93	0.72 ± 0.02	0.74 ± 0.01	0.75
ID5	0.69±0.02	0.68 ± 0.02	0.70	0.67 ± 0.02	0.68±0.02	0.76
ID6	0.7 ± 0.01	$0.72{\pm}0.02$	0.41	0.72±0.01	0.85±0.05	0.55
ID7	0.71±0.01	$0.78{\pm}0.02$	0.76	0.75±0.01	0.78±0.01	0.85
ID8	0.75±0.06	0.73±0.05	0.98	0.77 ± 0.06	0.81±0.09	0.93
ID9	0.72 ± 0.02	$0.74{\pm}0.01$	0.81	0.72 ± 0.02	0.74±0.01	0.75
ID10	0.68±0.03	$0.69{\pm}0.04$	0.96	$0.7{\pm}0.02$	0.7±0.01	0.81

Table 4.12: Differences in step time for each individual (number of trials=3)

	Left s	tep (L)	Right			
Subjects ID	Insole	Accelerometer Measures		Insole	Accelerometer Measures	
	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	$Mean(s) \pm SD(s)$	ICC	Mean(s)± SD(s)	Mean(s)± SD(s)	ICC
ID1	1.29±0.05	1.31±0.04	0.88	1.30±0.05	1.33±0.07	0.87
ID2	1.29±0.01	1.29±0.01	0.85	131.±0.01	1.28±0.02	0.88
ID3	1.31±0.19	1.25±0.22	0.96	1.31±0.2	1.3±0.18	0.98
ID4	1.26±0.03	1.27±0.05	0.91	1.28±0.03	1.28±0.03	0.94
ID5	1.25±0.05	1.27 ± 0.03	0.95	1.24 ± 0.04	1.23±0.04	0.98
ID6	1.3±0.01	1.31 ± 0.04	0.63	1.29±0.04	1.33±0.07	0.70
ID7	1.3±0.02	1.29±0.01	0.77	1.3±0.001	1.29±0.01	0.88
ID8	1.31±0.19	1.25±0.22	0.96	1.31±0.02	1.3±0.08	0.91
ID9	1.29±0.008	1.3±0.03	0.81	1.29±0.02	1.31±0.03	0.97
ID10	1.26±0.05	1.27±0.03	0.95	1.26±0.04	1.24±0.03	0.95

Table 4.13: Differences in stride time for each individual (number of trials =3)

	Left st	ep (L)	Right s			
	Insole	Accelerometer Measures		Insole	Accelerometer Measures	-
Subjects ID	mean± SD	mean± SD	ICC	mean± SD	mean± SD	ICC
	(steps/min)	(steps/min)	100	(steps/min)	(steps/min)	100
ID1	50.85±2.27	45.82±1.46	0.79	46.17±1.76	45.34±2.38	0.72
ID2	46.58±0.6	46.37±0.49	0.78	45.76±0.29	46.06±0.29	0.63
ID3	46.69±6.93	49.65±8.12	0.94	46.85±7.24	46.84±6.88	0.98
ID4	47.56±1.184	47.19±1.92	0.93	46.74±1.12	46.86±1.12	0.96
ID5	47.6±1.91	47.31±1.22	0.94	48.17±1.5	48.64±1.36	0.96
ID6	50.07±2.83	46.89±0.56	0.53	45.30±1.6	45.68±1.84	0.61
ID7	45.25±0.25	46.37±0.49	0.85	45.43±0.72	45.75±0.45	0.89
ID8	47.38±6.16	50.77±6.56	0.93	47.6±6.43	47.61±6.11	0.94
ID9	48.24±0.3	47.75±1.22	0.61	47.37±0.35	47.01±0.91	0.68
ID10	48.10±1.57	47.31±1.22	0.97	48.39±0.79	48.3±0.89	0.89

Table 4.14: Differences in Cadence for each individual (number of trials =3)

	Left s	tep (L)	Right			
Subjects	Insole	Accelerometer Measures		Insole	Accelerometer Measures	-
Subjects _	Mean(m/s)±	$mean(m/s) \pm$		mean(m/s)±	mean(m/s)±	
ID	SD(m/s)	SD(m/s)	ICC	SD(m/s)	SD(m/s)	ICC
ID1	0.90 ± 0.02	0.90±0.01	0.63	0.91 ± 0.02	0.91±0.02	0.69
ID2	0.90±0.01	0.89 ± 0.02	0.93	0.88 ± 0.02	0.88 ± 0.01	0.85
ID3	1.00±0.22	0.98±0.16	0.97	0.93±0.12	0.87±0.10	0.80
ID4	0.90 ± 1.00	0.90±0.03	0.70	0.90±0.01	0.91 ± 0.01	0.82
ID5	0.92±0.03	0.93 ± 0.05	0.83	0.90±0.03	0.93±0.01	0.76
ID6	0.92±0.01	0.9±0.01	0.79	0.93±0.01	0.92 ± 0.02	0.90
ID7	0.92 ± 0.02	0.88 ± 0.01	0.71	0.88 ± 0.02	0.89±0.01	0.82
ID8	0.88±0.05	0.90 ± 0.06	0.83	0.88 ± 0.04	0.91 ± 0.05	0.88
ID9	0.90±0.01	0.89±0.01	0.80	0.92±0.01	0.90±0.01	0.98
ID10	0.95±0.02	0.95±0.01	0.97	0.96±0.01	0.95±0.04	0.90

Table 4.15: Differences in walking speed for each individual (number of trials =3)

The smartphones and insole shoes show agreement and offer high performance quality results. This scheme was implemented and tested on a benchmark database which used only ten subjects with three trials. According to the results in (Mnati & Chong 2020), a smartphone versus insole shoe technique yielded promising results with high agreement. To improve the our results and make it more reliable we increased the number of subjects and trials, based on smartphone and insole sensors, was presented in this chapter; it was conducted and tested with a whole database, 20 subjects 10 men and 10 women; aged 20 and 40 years; mass and height 60 to 95 kg and 156 to 180cm, respectively), using five trials. The second phase of results were discussed the smartphones vs insole shoe technique of a whole dataset, with 20 subjects. This method improved performance by increasing the performance results using new statistic measures with a whole dataset.

The results of each subject lower limb were reported in terms of mean and SD, as shown in Tables 4.15 and 4.16. Where, the results of 20 subjects left and right legs are described in details in Appendix C2. These statistical measures are used by many researchers to evaluate their research methods (Silsupado et al., 2020; Hollman et al., 2016). The results of all experiments were analysed using SPSS 23.0. Tables 4.15 and 4.16 show the average (for 20 subjects) of four parameters for left and right insole sensor and smartphone, based on mean and SD.

Variable	Inso	Insole		ohone
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Step time(s)	0.68	0.03	0.67	0.03
Stride time(s)	1.22	0.06	1.22	0.06
Cadence(steps/min)	50.05	0.92	49.35	1.03
Walking time(m/s)	1.03	0.05	1.02	0.05

Table 4.16: Performance of proposed method based on four parameters - left insole

 sensor and smartphone for five trials m/s

Variable	Insole		Si	Smartphone		
v ai iabic	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Step time(s)	0.68	0.02	0.69	0.03		
Stride time(s)	1.21	0.05	1.21	0.05		
Cadence(steps/min)	49.81	0.78	49.41	0.96		
Walking speed (m/s)	1.01	0.05	1.01	0.05		

Table 4.17: Performance of the proposed method based on four parameters – right

 insole sensor and smartphone for five trials

The mean and SD for each subject based on the four parameters were computed. The average was calculated for each parameter for both insole sensors and smartphones. Based on the results in Tables 4.16 and 4.17, the mean and SD for insole and smartphone based on the three parameters yielded approximately the same results except cadence. The results demonstrated that the smartphone has the ability to measure the spatiotemporal parameters of healthy people.

Two of the twenty subjects participating in this study were randomly selected to perform 25 trials. This procedure was performed to collect more data, leading to a better understanding of the proposed study in terms of the comparison between smartphones and insole sensors. In other words, the more trials have taken, the closer average will get to the true value. The results for each subject is based on four parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed), and are reported in terms of mean \pm SD, and then the average of mean \pm SD was calculated for all subjects, as shown in Table 4.16. The results for the smartphone measure demonstrate that the developed study achieved a perfect results when comparing smartphone and insole sensors. Of the four parameters, the step time results performed best in terms of average of mean and SD for all subject compared with other parameters. In the Table 4.17, it could be seen that the smartphone pair achieved a good results compared with that of the insoles in the four parameters (step time, stride time, Stride time, Cadence and walking speed.

	Ins	sole	phone		
Parameters	Right	Left	Right	Left	
	$mean \pm SD$	$mean \pm SD$	$mean \pm SD$	mean \pm SD	
Step time(s)	0.76 ± 0.03	0.74 ± 0.03	0.78 ± 0.03	0.73 ± 0.03	
Stride time(s)	1.30 ± 0.05	1.31 ± 0.05	1.27 ± 0.24	1.31 ± 0.05	
Cadence(steps/min)	45.41 ± 1.75	45.78 ± 1.62	45.75 ± 1.60	45.73 ± 1.74	
Walking time(m/s)	0.92 ± 0.09	0.89 ± 0.08	0.90 ± 0.06	0.89 ± 0.07	

Table 4.18: Results for mean \pm SD for 25 trials

The P-value was used to determine significance by presenting the agreement between the smartphones and insoles. The differences between the data derived from the insole sensor and smartphone were (P-value >0.05), reflecting the similarity between these two devices, as shown in Table 4.18. Results confirm the hypotheses formulated prior to this study and therefore are supportive of the increased adoption of smartphones for collecting spatiotemporal data instead of insole sensors.

Table 4.17 shows the summary of results based on the Pearson correlation coefficient (r) and P-value between smartphones and insole sensors for all subjects in 25 trials. Analysis used the range of (r) values 0.90-1.00 considered very high, 0.70-0.90 high, 0.50-0.70 moderate, 0.30-0.50 low and less than 0.30 negligible (Silsupadol et al. 2019). The P-value was calculated for all parameters through insole and smartphone (left and right). The results in Table 4.18 show that each parameter for insole and smartphone could be statistically evaluated by a specific set of P-values.

Variable	Rig	Right Left		
	Pearson r	P-value	Pearson r	P-value
Step time(s)	0.79	0.42	0.79	0.26
Stride time(s)	0.92	0.31	0.88	0.08
Cadence(steps/min)	0.80	0.47	0.88	0.08
Walking time(m/s)	0.82	0.46	0.80	0.94

Table 4.19: Summary of results agreement between accelerometer measures and insoles

 for two subjects with 25 trials

4.3.2 Performance of the study based on Bland Altman plots

Bland Altman plots were used to assess this study's ability to investigate the effectiveness of the variables (step time, stride time, cadence, and walking speed). Bland Altman plots are another way to examine the agreement and systematic error between the smartphones and insoles (Howell et al. 2020). The x-axis represents the average of the two systems' values while the y-axis represents the difference between the two values. The Bland Altman graph has three horizontal lines that provide more information about the acquired data. The solid line, called the bias, represents the average differences between the two values, and the two dashed lines represent the limit of agreement (LOA). Bland Altman plots show bias and 95% limits of agreement when comparing the spatiotemporal gait parameters derived from the smartphones and insole sensors, as shown in Figure 4.18. If 95% of the values fall between the dashed lines, the difference is normally distributed (Myles & Cui 2007). Based on the obtained results in Figure 4.18, we can observe that there are no big differences in the obtained results when the smartphones and insole sensors were used, indicating that there is an agreement between both devices. From these results, it is evident that the smartphone has the ability to determine spatiotemporal gait parameters, and to evaluate the validity of a smartphone-based tri-axial accelerometer to assess gait characteristics.



Figure 4.18: Bland-Altman plot for Samsung smartphone attached to subject's body and insole sensors for two subjects with 25 trials. Each dot represents a single step. The solid line is the bias, with dashed lines representing the upper and lower of error LOA.

4.3.3 Performance of the developed study based on 25-cross validation

To investigate the effectiveness of the smartphones as opposed to the insole sensors in determining spatiotemporal gait parameters (step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed), box plots were used based on the Pearson correlation coefficient. The box plots consist of three parts: upper, lower, and middle. The upper part of the plot box denotes the 75th percentile, and the lower part presents the 25th percentile, while the central part refers to the median 50th percentile which is sometimes called the centre. The highest and lowest values in the box plot are marked using a line extending from the top to the bottom of the box. The box plot shows agreement between smartphones and insole sensors at the same time point based on the Pearson correlation coefficient. In further investigations, the performance of the proposed method through 25-cross validation using the smartphone was used in this study. The proposed method was tested 25 times, and all results were recorded. From Figures 4.19 A and B we can see that the Pearson correlation coefficient ranged between 0.79 and 0.92 for both the left and right. In Figure 4.19A, the value of the maximum Pearson correlation coefficient was 0.98% for stride time left, while the minimum Value was 0.68% for walking speed left. On the other hand, the maximum and minimum Pearson correlation coefficient for the right limb was 0.98% and 0.65% for stride time and step time, respectively.



Figure 4.19: Box plot for Pearson correlation coefficient of smartphones and insole sensors: A shows the left leg and B shows the right leg.

For further evaluation of the study, the performance of the smartphones and insole sensors were analysed and tested for spatiotemporal gait parameters using R-squared (R^2). The scatterplot of the insole sensor versus smartphone device with the least square regression, line and correlation of determination (R^2) which is used to evaluate as well as to show the agreement between smartphones and insole sensors for all gait parameters. The constant values of a and y-intercept b were used to outline the model's performance, with the correlation of determination (R^2), was employed. Reliable results were found for all four parameters: step time, stride time, cadence and walking, based on the value a, b and R^2 . Furthermore, it was noticed that there is agreement between the smartphones and insole sensors, which reported the same or similar results. The results for the left leg were $R^{2=} 0.81, 0.88, 0.8$ and 0.80 for step time, stride time, cadence and walking, respectively, while results for the right leg were $R^{2=} 0.85, 0.96, 0.87$ and 0.81 for step time, stride time, cadence and walking, respectively.

Figures 4.20, 4.21, 4.22 and 4.23 represent four parameters of left and right legs of the first subject. Step time shows high agreement for left and right legs with $R^2 > 0.80$ Figure 4.20. Figure 4.21 shows less agreement in the left leg $R^2 = 0.88$ compare to the right leg $R^2 = 0.96$ in stride time. For Cadence $R^2 = 0.87$ for both left and right legs as shown in Figure 4.22. Also, the results were slightly different in the walking speed parameter $R^2 = 0.80$ for left and $R^2 = 0.81$ for the right leg. Furthermore, for subjects 2 with 25 trials, R^2 for left and right legs was 0.83 and 0.84 respectively as shown in Figure 4.24. Figure 4.25 shows that less agreement between insole and smartphone measures in stride time, $R^2 = 0.75$ for left and $R^2 = 0.83$. In Cadence, both left and right legs $R^2 = 0.77$ and $R^2 = 0.70$ as shown in Figure 4.26. Figure 4.27 shows that right leg data in walking speed has higher agreement than the left leg.

Finally, the experimental outcomes indicate that the developed method can measure the spatiotemporal parameters of healthy people: step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed, using both insole sensors and smartphones.



Figure 4.20: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' step time for first subject.



Figure 4.21: Scatterplot of smartphone device vs insole sensor for left and right legs' stride time for first subject



Figure 4.22: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' cadence for first subject.



Figure 4.23: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' walking speed for first subject.



Figure 4.24: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' step time for second subject.



Figure 4.25: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' step time for second subject.



Figure 4.26: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' cadence for second subjects.



Figure 4.27: Scatterplot of smartphone device versus insole sensor for left and right legs' walking time for second subject.

4.4 Summary

This chapter has addressed the results of the research objectives. The results are divided into two parts: kinematic (accelerometer with photogrammetry) and spatiotemporal (accelerometer with insole sensors) results. The obtained results support our hypothesis that smartphone devices can provide close readings and gait measurements in comparison to the camera by taking the accelerometer reading as a parameter to compare the location of the limb during the stance phase of the gait. Also, the second part of the results demonstrate that the accelerometer sensor is efficient in its measurement of the spatiotemporal gait parameters of healthy adult participants. Thus, it can provide reliable data; negating the need for expensive devices.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 An Overview

This chapter discusses and evaluates the efficiency of the developed method. This research aimed to investigate the gap in chapter one. So, the first part of this research is focused on determining the existing accelerometer measures obtainable with smartphone devices, and investigating the smartphone device application and sensors to understand how they can be used in gait analysis research. It also introduces a new technique of smartphone sensor devices by comparing the captured data with camera images based photogrammetric data. The first part of the thesis is achieved the first objective in this research.

The second part of this research seeks to validate the smartphone sensor device by analysing spatiotemporal gait parameters. The quality of the new method examined the efficacy of accelerometer sensors in a pair of Android smartphones (one for each leg) as opposed to an insole sensor in determining spatiotemporal gait parameters. Also, investigated the effectiveness of gait parameters characteristics to identify the relationship between smartphone and insole sensors. The spatiotemporal gait parameters of 30 healthy participants in different cohort were assessed with insole sensors and smartphones.

Various studies have defined methods to assess body and leg movement via photogrammetry or accelerometers sensors. Photogrammetry has gained popularity in kinematic gait analyses such as those of ankle movement (Al-Kharaz & Chong 2020). This study determines the gender differences in ankle mobility. Twenty participants (10 females and 10 males) were recruited, and 14 retro-reflective targets were mounted on the skin of each participant's right foot. The results show that the sagittal range of motion in the plantar flexion turn in place is significant. The maximum mean angle of internal/external ankle rotation for males and females is very similar (there is no significant difference). These results may contribute to a better understanding of the influence of gender on ankle mobility.

Another study was presented by Yuan et al. (2002) in which a real-time photogrammetric system that incorporated multithreading and a graphic processing unit (GPU) provided an accelerated solution for extracting 3D human body dynamics in real-time. The system includes a stereo camera with preliminary calibration, from which left-view and right-view frames are loaded. Then, a dense image-matching algorithm is married with GPU acceleration to generate a real-time disparity map which is further extended to a 3D map array obtained by photogrammetric processing based on the camera orientation parameters. These 3D features are extracted and visualised in real-time by multithreading, from which human movement dynamics (e.g., moving speed, knee pressure angle) are derived. The results reveal that a real-time photogrammetric system is an effective real-time solution to monitor 3D human body dynamics. This proposed system has great potential for applications such as motion tracking, 3D body information extraction and human dynamics monitoring.

Furrer et al. (2015) proposed the different assessed method by smartphone application and motion capture system. a smartphone device used to compare the motion capture systems. In their study, 22 healthy young adults were assessed with a smartphone application and a motion capture system. The reliability of their proposed method was evaluated using the correlation coefficient and standard error. They demonstrated that there was agreement in the obtained results of the systems.

Another study was presented by (Phoophuangpairoj 2016) which analysed knee extension exercises using a smartphone accelerometer. This research developed a method to analyse a knee extension exercise using an accelerometer. The important factors affecting the effectiveness of the exercise to relieve knee pain were recognized. Regression analysis was applied to obtain a suitable equation to compute the knee angle from accelerometer data. Then, by applying signal processing, all knee angles were divided into small frames and used to identify the characteristics of the knee extension exercises. The results showed that the proposed method could efficiently determine the degree at which the leg was held, the length of time for which the leg was held, and the angular velocity at which the leg was lowered and raised. No research has focused on integrating two approaches such as photogrammetry and accelerometer for the purpose of gait analysis.

5.2 Smartphone versus photogrammetry measure accuracy

To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare and validate the use of smartphones versus cameras. Our hypothesis assumed that smartphone devices could provide close readings and gait measurements comparable to the camera by taking the accelerometer reading as a parameter to compare the location of the limb during the stance phase of the gait.

The results revealed some outstanding findings regarding smartphone use as a gait measurement device during human walking and running. It is worth noting that the linear location values for the whole stance phase are relatively similar and closer to that of a camera's 3D location in the x y planes (Z direction) which represents the linear location of the knee. Importantly, the correlation coefficient between the measurement of smartphone and camera was R=0.935. Also, the relationship between the smartphone and camera is positive (R=0.87) which supports the hypothesis that the smartphone can be utilised as tool for the measurement of gait characteristics. During the toe-off segment of gait, the results showed a P value 0.56, giving an indication that this technique can produce similar values to that of a photogrammetry in some phases of the gait. There are some limitations in this research such as the small number of participants and the number of trials performed. Thus, further studies are required employing different types of smartphone devices, recruiting more subjects, and studying different gait parameters.

5.3 Smartphone versus insole sensors measure accuracy

In this part of our research, a new method was presented to study the four gait spatiotemporal parameters of healthy adult participants. This research developed an innovative method to extract the most important features from 10 subjects. The results showed the efficiency of the alternative devices in detecting the gait parameters of healthy adult participants; reporting close or similar results. Smartphone sensors can provide reliable data, inexpensively.

In this work, an innovative method was used to extract the most important features from 20 subjects. One of the most important findings was that the measures

of the smartphone device agree with the insole shoe sensors when measuring spatiotemporal parameters. The effectiveness of the proposed model was tested with two Android smartphones, two insole sensors and 20 healthy adult participants. The study used different statistical methods (ANOVA, Bland-Altman, linear regression, and Pearson correlation coefficient) to measure the reliability and validity of smartphone use. Smartphone use was also compared with four other existing methods. This study demonstrated that the developed model achieved the best performance in terms of a correlation coefficient.

The obtained results show that, by using two Android smartphone devices with insole shoe sensors, a high level of agreement was obtained, allowing for a good range of acceptable alternatives to assess spatiotemporal parameters. Besides, our findings demonstrate that the smartphone can be used as a reliable and valid tool in spatiotemporal gait analysis of healthy adults. This method can help clinicians to work more efficiently, and to objectively evaluate gait with easy to use and interesting work as well as reduce cost. A future work is needed to investigate the ability of smartphones to detect the differences between adults and older people in their way of walking and to ascertain whether it is sensitive enough to detect differences in gait patterns. Furthermore, we can apply big data and different devices to study the spatiotemporal parameters of the insole sensors and smartphones for healthy and non-healthy people.

We compared the developed method with some existing methods based on validation studies and other well-known methods. The following studies presents the comparison of performances among the developed methods and the other four reported methods (Furrer et al 2015; Park and Kim 2018; Hollman et al. 2016; Clark et al, 2016).

Regarding the validation study, Furrer et al. (2015) proposed the same method of validation as our study; a smartphone device used to compare the motion capture systems. In their study, 22 healthy young adults were assessed with a smartphone application and a motion capture system. The reliability of their proposed method was evaluated using the correlation coefficient and standard error. The validity of the smartphone application and motion capture-derived values were compared with the Pearson correlation coefficient and Bland-Altman limits of agreement. They demonstrated that there was agreement in the obtained results of the systems. Another study was presented by Park and Kim (2018) in which the reliability and validity of a smartphone-based accelerometer in quantifying spatiotemporal gait parameters of stroke patients when attached to the body were confirmed. In their study, the gait parameters were measured and evaluated using a smartphone accelerometer and GAITRite analysis. Thirty participants were asked to walk 10 meters. Then three parameters: gait velocity, cadence and step length were computed using smartphonebased accelerometers. The results were validated with a GAITRite analysis system. Average excellent reliability (ICC2 \geq .98) of correlation coefficient was reported. They observed that a high correlation between the smartphone-based gait parameters and the GAITRite analysis system-based gait parameters was achieved.

To provide a more thorough evaluation of the developed method, it was also compared with existing studies in the literature most of the studies utilizing a smartphone device to study the gait parameters applied one or two measurements to evaluate the obtained data. It was also found that many studies were conducted with a limited number of subjects using limited trials to compute gait parameters. Furthermore, these studies used only one or two measures to evaluate performance results. One of the studies was presented by Hollman et al. (2016). They developed a method for comparison of variability in spatiotemporal gait parameters between treadmill and overground walking conditions. In their study, 20 healthy participants aged between 22 and 27 years walked for 6 minutes on a treadmill and overground. A different set of parameters was used and measured in that study. They focused on the importance of the consideration of gait variability when using treadmills for research or clinical purposes because of its potential to lead to invariant gait patterns.

In 2013, Clark et al. provided a method to assess the validity of overground walking, recording the spatiotemporal data using a criterion reference-based threedimensional motion analysis system. In their study, a different set of parameters (gait speed, step length and time, stride length, and time) were measured.

According to Clark et al. (2013), we used step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed for a comparison of spatiotemporal gait parameters between smartphone and insole sensors. Furthermore, the Bland-Altman 95% bias and limits of agreement, linear regression and statistical analysis using mean and SD were also employed to
evaluate the obtained measures and to assess the agreement between the two systems. The comparison between the devices showed excellent agreement.

In summary, from all the obtained results above, we can see that specific opportunities exist for smartphone-based gait assessment as an alternative to conventional gait assessment. Furthermore, a smartphone-based gait assessment could provide reliable information about changes in spatiotemporal gait parameters.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

This chapter introduces the overall findings of this research. In addition, it suggests some areas for future possible research.

6.1 Conclusion

As gait research using smartphone sensors continues to expand, new strategies and different ideas are offered in this research. This thesis shows that an accelerometer sensor in a smartphone can provide significant results in terms of accuracy in comparison to that of the photogrammetry technique and insole sensors. This new approach can be used widely in research and clinical environments to obtain accurate data for kinematics and kinetics. Our hypothesis assumed that smartphone devices could provide close readings and gait measurements comparable to the camera by taking the accelerometer reading as a parameter to compare the location of the limb during the stance phase of the gait. This part of the thesis is achieved the first objective of this research.

The current work concludes that accelerometer sensors embedded in the smartphone can be used as a significant and easy method to obtain gait characteristics. Moreover, the proposed application running on Android could be useful as a diagnostic aid tool for analysing human movement.

Even though the proposed method has some limitations, it can be considered a new, cheap and effective method; saving time, money and physical space compared to the photogrammetry technique.

The research also aimed to evaluate the smartphone technique design and implementation for measuring and studying participants' spatiotemporal gait parameters. To achieve second objective, a new methodology has been developed to study the spatiotemporal parameters of healthy people: step time, stride time, cadence and walking speed, using both insole sensors and smartphones.

In this research, an innovative method to analysis spatiotemporal gait parameters was used to extract the most important features from 30 subjects. One of the most important findings was that the outcomes of the accelerometer sensor embedded in smartphone device was convergent to the insole shoe sensor's data when measuring spatiotemporal parameters. The effectiveness of the developed model was validated with two Android smartphones. Determine the suitability of new gait parameters characteristics to identify and relationship between Smartphone and Insole sensors achieved objective three.

Objective four has been achieved by evaluate and validate the performance quality of the proposed methods, this study used different statistical methods (ANOVA, Bland-Altman, linear regression, and Pearson correlation coefficient) to measure the reliability and validity of smartphone use. Smartphone use was also compared with four other existing methods. It was demonstrated that the developed model had better readings in terms of a correlation coefficient.

The obtained results showed that, by using two Android smartphone devices with insole shoe sensors, a high level of agreement was obtained, allowing for a good range of acceptable alternatives to assess spatiotemporal parameters. Our findings demonstrate that the smartphone can be used as a reliable and valid tool in the spatiotemporal gait analysis of healthy adults. This method can help clinicians evaluate gait more efficiently, objectively and with greater ease; provide interesting work as well as reducing cost.

6.2 Future work

We believe that this research can be developed further to play a role in changing the way gait assessment is conducted in the fields of sport, rehabilitation, etc. There are possibilities of future research related to the concept explored in this thesis. First, developing new algorithm to interpret the accelerometer in terms of position and acceleration.

Second, additional studies will be needed to investigate the ability of smartphones to detect the differences between adults and older people in their way of walking and to ascertain whether it is sensitive enough to detect differences in gait patterns.

Third, future research can focus on using new smartphones applications with different sensors. The findings could also be used to develop new techniques for sport and exercise purposes.

Fourth, big data may also be applied to different devices to study the spatiotemporal parameters of insole sensors and smartphones for healthy versus non-healthy people and women versus men.

Fifth, many other human gait characteristics can be examined using this new approach. For instance, cadence, stride length, step length, stance time and EMG.

REFERENCES

Akhtaruzzaman, M, Shafie, AA & Khan, MR 2016, 'Gait analysis: Systems, technologies, and importance', *Journal of Mechanics in Medicine and Biology*, vol. 16, no. 07, p. 1630003.

Al-Baghdadi, JAA, Chong, AK, McDougall, K, Alshadli, D, Milburn, P & Newsham-West, R 2011, 'A dense surface modelling technique for foot surface imaging', in *Proceedings of the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Biennial Conference (SSSC 2011)*, Scion, pp. 295-302.

Al-Kharaz, A & Chong, A 2020, 'Investigation of tri-planar range of motion of ankle according to gender using photogrammetry technique', in 2020 IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing, Communications and Computing (ICSPCC), IEEE, pp. 1-5.

Al-Kharaz, AA & Chong, A 2021, 'Reliability of a close-range photogrammetry technique to measure ankle kinematics during active range of motion in place', *The Foot*, vol. 46, p. 101763.

Altun, K & Barshan, B 2010, 'Human activity recognition using inertial/magnetic sensor units', in *International Workshop on Human Behavior Understanding*, Springer, pp. 38-51.

Anderson, RM, Fitzgerald, JT, Wisdom, K, Davis, WK & Hiss, RG 1997, 'A comparison of global versus disease-specific quality-of-life measures in patients with NIDDM', *Diabetes care*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 299-305. Arafsha, F, Hanna, C, Aboualmagd, A, Fraser, S & El Saddik, A 2018, 'Instrumented

Arafsha, F, Hanna, C, Aboualmagd, A, Fraser, S & El Saddik, A 2018, 'Instrumented wireless smartinsole system for mobile gait analysis: A validation pilot study with tekscan strideway', *Journal of Sensor and Actuator Networks*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 36.

Ayrulu-Erdem, B & Barshan, B 2011, 'Leg motion classification with artificial neural networks using wavelet-based features of gyroscope signals', *Sensors*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 1721-43.

Baker, R 2006, 'Gait analysis methods in rehabilitation', *Journal of neuroengineering* and rehabilitation, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 4.

Baldini, G, Steri, G, Dimc, F, Giuliani, R & Kamnik, R 2016, 'Experimental identification of smartphones using fingerprints of built-in micro-electro mechanical systems (MEMS)', *Sensors*, vol. 16, no. 6, p. 818.

Bamberg, SJM, Benbasat, AY, Scarborough, DM, Krebs, DE & Paradiso, JA 2008, 'Gait analysis using a shoe-integrated wireless sensor system', *IEEE transactions on information technology in biomedicine*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 413-23.

Bang, D-H & Shin, W-S 2016, 'Effects of robot-assisted gait training on spatiotemporal gait parameters and balance in patients with chronic stroke: a randomized controlled pilot trial', *NeuroRehabilitation*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 343-9.

Begg, R & Kamruzzaman, J 2005, 'A machine learning approach for automated recognition of movement patterns using basic, kinetic and kinematic gait data', *Journal of biomechanics*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 401-8.

Bekkeng, JK 2009, 'Calibration of a novel MEMS inertial reference unit', *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 1967-74.

Bernardes, D & Oliveira, ALR 2017, 'Comprehensive catwalk gait analysis in a chronic model of multiple sclerosis subjected to treadmill exercise training', *BMC neurology*, vol. 17, no. 1, p. 160.

Bistacchi, A, Balsamo, F, Storti, F, Mozafari, M, Swennen, R, Solum, J, Tueckmantel, C & Taberner, C 2015, 'Photogrammetric digital outcrop reconstruction, visualization with textured surfaces, and three-dimensional structural analysis and modeling: Innovative methodologies applied to fault-related dolomitization (Vajont Limestone, Southern Alps, Italy)', *Geosphere*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 2031-48.

Blank, P, Kugler, P, Schlarb, H & Eskofier, B 2014, 'A wearable sensor system for sports and fitness applications', *19th Annu. Congr. of the European College of Sport*

Science.

Bonato, P 2003, 'Wearable sensors/systems and their impact on biomedical engineering', *IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 18-20.

Bouten, CV, Koekkoek, KT, Verduin, M, Kodde, R & Janssen, JD 1997, 'A triaxial accelerometer and portable data processing unit for the assessment of daily physical activity', *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 136-47.

Brandes, M, Zijlstra, W, Heikens, S, van Lummel, R & Rosenbaum, D 2006, 'Accelerometry based assessment of gait parameters in children', *Gait & posture*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 482-6.

Brehm, M, Bus, SA, Harlaar, J & Nollet, F 2011, 'A candidate core set of outcome measures based on the international classification of functioning, disability and health for clinical studies on lower limb orthoses', *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 269-77.

Brodie, MA, Psarakis, M & Hoang, P 2016, 'Gyroscopic corrections improve wearable sensor data prior to measuring dynamic sway in the gait of people with multiple sclerosis', *Computer methods in biomechanics and biomedical engineering*, vol. 19, no. 12, pp. 1339-46.

Bulbul, E, Cetin, A & Dogru, IA 2018, 'Human activity recognition using smartphones', in 2018 2nd international symposium on multidisciplinary studies and innovative technologies (ismsit), IEEE, pp. 1-6.

Burgos, CP, Gärtner, L, Ballester, MAG, Noailly, J, Stöcker, F, Schönfelder, M, Adams, T & Tassani, S 2020, 'In-Ear Accelerometer-Based Sensor for Gait Classification', *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 20, no. 21, pp. 12895-902.

Chan, HK, Zheng, H, Wang, H, Gawley, R, Yang, M & Sterritt, R 2011, 'Feasibility study on iPhone accelerometer for gait detection', in 2011 5th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) and Workshops, IEEE, pp. 184-7.

Chang, P-C, Tien, M-C, Wu, J-L & Hu, C-S 2009, 'Real-time gender classification from human gait for arbitrary view angles', in 2009 11th IEEE International Symposium on Multimedia, IEEE, pp. 88-95.

Cheung, JT-M & Zhang, M 2006, 'Finite element modeling of the human foot and footwear', in *ABAQUS users' conference*, pp. 145-58.

Chong, AK 2011, 'Low-cost compact cameras: A medical application in CMT disease monitoring', *The Photogrammetric Record*, vol. 26, no. 134, pp. 263-73.

Chong, AK, Milburn, P, West, RN, ter Voert, M & Croftc, H 2008, 'Recent practical applications of close-range photogrammetry for complex motion study', *Int Arch Photogramm Rem Sens Spatial Inform Sci*, vol. 37, no. Part B5, pp. 921-6.

Courtney, J, Burke, DP & de Paor, AM 2001, 'Application of digital image processing to marker-free analysis of human gait', University College Dublin.

Csapo, R, Maganaris, C, Seynnes, O & Narici, M 2010, 'On muscle, tendon and high heels', *Journal of Experimental Biology*, vol. 213, no. 15, pp. 2582-8.

D'Apuzzo, N 2003, 'Surface measurement and tracking of human body parts from multi station video sequences', ETH Zurich.

Davison, AJ, Reid, ID, Molton, ND & Stasse, O 2007, 'MonoSLAM: Real-time single camera SLAM', *IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence*, vol. 29, no. 6.

Del Rosario, MB, Redmond, SJ & Lovell, NH 2015, 'Tracking the evolution of smartphone sensing for monitoring human movement', *Sensors*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 18901-33.

Direito, A, Dale, LP, Shields, E, Dobson, R, Whittaker, R & Maddison, R 2014, 'Do physical activity and dietary smartphone applications incorporate evidence-based behaviour change techniques?', *BMC public health*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 646. Ducharme, SW, Sands, CJ, Moore, CC, Aguiar, EJ, Hamill, J & Tudor-Locke, C 2018,

Ducharme, SW, Sands, CJ, Moore, CČ, Aguiar, EJ, Hamill, J & Tudor-Locke, C 2018, 'Changes to gait speed and the walk ratio with rhythmic auditory cuing', *Gait & posture*, vol. 66, pp. 255-9.

Fernandez-Lopez, P, Liu-Jimenez, J, Sanchez-Redondo, C & Sanchez-Reillo, R 2016, 'Gait recognition using smartphone', in *Security Technology (ICCST), 2016 IEEE*

International Carnahan Conference on, IEEE, pp. 1-7.

Foxlin, E 2002, 'Motion tracking requirements and technologies', *Handbook of virtual environment technology*, vol. 8, pp. 163-210.

Foxlin, E, Wormell, D, Browne, TC & Donfrancesco, M 2014, *Motion tracking system* and method using camera and non-camera sensors, Google Patents.

Freitas, P, Ferreira, R, Cardoso, S & Cardoso, F 2007, 'Magnetoresistive sensors', *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, vol. 19, no. 16, p. 165221.

Galán-Mercant, A, Barón-López, FJ, Labajos-Manzanares, MT & Cuesta-Vargas, AI 2014, 'Reliability and criterion-related validity with a smartphone used in timed-upand-go test', *Biomedical engineering online*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 156.

Galantucci, L, Percoco, G & Di Gioia, E 2012, 'New 3D digitizer for human faces based on digital close range photogrammetry: application to face symmetry analysis', *International Journal of Digital Content Technology and its Applications*, vol. 6, no. 20, p. 703.

Ganapuram, S, Kumar, GV, Krishna, IM, Kahya, E & Demirel, MC 2009, 'Mapping of groundwater potential zones in the Musi basin using remote sensing data and GIS', *Advances in Engineering Software*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 506-18.

Gong, S, Lai, DT, Wang, Y, Yap, LW, Si, KJ, Shi, Q, Jason, NN, Sridhar, T, Uddin, H & Cheng, W 2015, 'Tattoolike Polyaniline Microparticle-Doped Gold Nanowire Patches as Highly Durable Wearable Sensors', *ACS applied materials & interfaces*, vol. 7, no. 35, pp. 19700-8.

Howell, AM, Kobayashi, T, Hayes, HA, Foreman, KB & Bamberg, SJM 2013, 'Kinetic gait analysis using a low-cost insole', *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3284-90.

Howell, DR, Lugade, V, Taksir, M & Meehan III, WP 2020, 'Determining the utility of a smartphone-based gait evaluation for possible use in concussion management', *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 75-80.

Howell, DR, Oldham, JR, DiFabio, M, Vallabhajosula, S, Hall, EE, Ketcham, CJ, Meehan, WP & Buckley, TA 2017, 'Single-task and dual-task gait among collegiate athletes of different sport classifications: implications for concussion management', *Journal of applied biomechanics*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 24-31.

Hsiao, H, Guan, J & Weatherly, M 2002, 'Accuracy and precision of two in-shoe pressure measurement systems', *Ergonomics*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 537-55.

Iosa, M, Picerno, P, Paolucci, S & Morone, G 2016, 'Wearable inertial sensors for human movement analysis', *Expert review of medical devices*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 641-59.

Iwama, H, Muramatsu, D, Makihara, Y & Yagi, Y 2013, 'Gait verification system for criminal investigation', *Information and Media Technologies*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1187-99.

Jarchi, D, Pope, J, Lee, TK, Tamjidi, L, Mirzaei, A & Sanei, S 2018, 'A review on accelerometry-based gait analysis and emerging clinical applications', *IEEE reviews in biomedical engineering*, vol. 11, pp. 177-94.

Kale, A, Cuntoor, N, Yegnanarayana, B, Rajagopalan, A & Chellappa, R 2003, 'Gait analysis for human identification', in *International Conference on Audio-and Video-Based Biometric Person Authentication*, Springer, pp. 706-14.

Kalron, A & Achiron, A 2014, 'The relationship between fear of falling to spatiotemporal gait parameters measured by an instrumented treadmill in people with multiple sclerosis', *Gait & posture*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 739-44.

Kavanagh, JJ & Menz, HB 2008, 'Accelerometry: a technique for quantifying movement patterns during walking', *Gait & posture*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 1-15.

Keenan, GS, Franz, JR, Dicharry, J, Della Croce, U & Kerrigan, DC 2011, 'Lower limb joint kinetics in walking: the role of industry recommended footwear', *Gait & posture*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 350-5.

Kos, A, Umek, A & Tomažič, S 2018, 'Participatory Sensing in Evaluation of Smartphone Inertial Sensors for Mobile Applications in Healthcare and Sport', in 8th International Conference on Information Society and Technology, p. 32.

Lee, L & Grimson, WEL 2002, 'Gait appearance for recognition', in *International Workshop on Biometric Authentication*, Springer, pp. 143-54.

Li, J, Hao, H, Fan, K & Brownjohn, J 2015, 'Development and application of a relative displacement sensor for structural health monitoring of composite bridges', *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 726-42.

Liu, JJ, Huang, M-C, Xu, W & Sarrafzadeh, M 2014, 'Bodypart localization for pressure ulcer prevention', in 2014 36th annual international conference of the ieee engineering in medicine and biology society, IEEE, pp. 766-9.

Liu, L, Popescu, M, Skubic, M, Rantz, M, Yardibi, T & Cuddihy, P 2011, 'Automatic fall detection based on Doppler radar motion signature', in 2011 5th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) and Workshops, IEEE, pp. 222-5.

Liu, T, Inoue, Y, Shibata, K & Zheng, R 2007, 'Measurement of human lower limb orientations and ground reaction forces using wearable sensor systems', in 2007 *IEEE/ASME international conference on advanced intelligent mechatronics*, IEEE, pp. 1-6.

Lord, S, Galna, B, Verghese, J, Coleman, S, Burn, D & Rochester, L 2012, 'Independent domains of gait in older adults and associated motor and nonmotor attributes: validation of a factor analysis approach', *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 820-7.

Luhmann, T 2014, 'Eccentricity in images of circular and spherical targets and its impact on spatial intersection', *The Photogrammetric Record*, vol. 29, no. 148, pp. 417-33.

Luhmann, T, Robson, S, Kyle, S & Boehm, J 2014, *Close-range photogrammetry and 3D imaging*, Walter de Gruyter.

Manor, B, Yu, W, Zhu, H, Harrison, R, Lo, O-Y, Lipsitz, L, Travison, T, Pascual-Leone, A & Zhou, J 2018, 'Smartphone app–based assessment of gait during normal and dualtask walking: demonstration of validity and reliability', *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. e36.

Martínez-Martí, F, Martínez-García, MS, García-Díaz, SG, García-Jiménez, J, Palma, AJ & Carvajal, MA 2014, 'Embedded sensor insole for wireless measurement of gait parameters', *Australasian physical & engineering sciences in medicine*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 25-35.

Mirek, E, Filip, M, Chwała, W, Szymura, J, Pasiut, S, Banaszkiewicz, K, Bar, MR & Szczudlik, A 2018, 'The influence of motor ability rehabilitation on temporal-spatial parameters of gait in Huntington's disease patients on the basis of a three-dimensional motion analysis system: An experimental trial', *Neurologia i neurochirurgia polska*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 575-80.

Mjøsund, HL, Boyle, E, Kjaer, P, Mieritz, RM, Skallgård, T & Kent, P 2017, 'Clinically acceptable agreement between the ViMove wireless motion sensor system and the Vicon motion capture system when measuring lumbar region inclination motion in the sagittal and coronal planes', *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1-9.

Mnati, MN & Chong, AK 2020, 'Reliability and validity of Smartphones to Record and Study the Assessment of Gait Characteristics', in 2020 IEEE 10th Symposium on Computer Applications & Industrial Electronics (ISCAIE), IEEE, pp. 141-4.

Moran, K, Richter, C, Farrell, E, Mitchell, E, Ahmadi, A & O'Connor, NE 2015, 'Detection of running asymmetry using a wearable sensor system', *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 112, pp. 180-3.

Motawea, M, El-Nahas, M & Armstrong, DG 2019, 'Pressure distribution under the contralateral limb in Charcot arthropathy with different walking speeds', *The Foot*, vol. 39, pp. 15-21.

Muheidat, F, Tyrer, HW, Popescu, M & Rantz, M 2017, 'Estimating walking speed, stride length, and stride time using a passive floor based electronic scavenging system', in 2017 IEEE Sensors Applications Symposium (SAS), IEEE, pp. 1-5.

Muro-de-la-Herran, A, Garcia-Zapirain, B & Mendez-Zorrilla, A 2014, 'Gait analysis methods: An overview of wearable and non-wearable systems, highlighting clinical applications', *Sensors*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 3362-94.

Myles, PS & Cui, J 2007, I. Using the Bland–Altman method to measure agreement with repeated measures, Oxford University Press, 1471-6771.

Nakamura, J 2016, Image sensors and signal processing for digital still cameras, CRC

press.

Narayanan, A, Stewart, T & Mackay, L 2020, 'A Dual-Accelerometer System for Detecting Human Movement in a Free-living Environment', *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 252-8.

Nelms, NJ, Birch, CE, Halsey, DH, Blankstein, M, McGinnis, RS & Beynnon, BD 2020, 'Assessment of Early Gait Recovery After Anterior Approach Compared to Posterior Approach Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Smartphone Accelerometer–Based Study', *The Journal of Arthroplasty*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 465-70.

Nessler, JA, Gutierrez, V, Werner, J & Punsalan, A 2015, 'Side by side treadmill walking reduces gait asymmetry induced by unilateral ankle weight', *Human movement science*, vol. 41, pp. 32-45.

Nishiguchi, S, Yamada, M, Nagai, K, Mori, S, Kajiwara, Y, Sonoda, T, Yoshimura, K, Yoshitomi, H, Ito, H & Okamoto, K 2012, 'Reliability and validity of gait analysis by android-based smartphone', *Telemedicine and e-Health*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 292-6.

Noce, HP 2005, 'An in-shoe instrument for acquisition and storage of plantar pressure'. Noshadi, H, Ahmadian, S, Hagopian, H, Woodbridge, J, Dabiri, F & Terrafranca, N 2014, 'Mobile Balance and Instability Assessment System'.

Olivares, A, Olivares, G, Gorriz, J & Ramirez, J 2009, 'High-efficiency low-cost accelerometer-aided gyroscope calibration', in *Test and Measurement, 2009. ICTM'09. International Conference on*, IEEE, pp. 354-60.

Panero, E, Digo, E, Agostini, V & Gastaldi, L 2018, 'Comparison of different motion capture setups for gait analysis: validation of spatio-temporal parameters estimation', in 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Medical Measurements and Applications (MeMeA), IEEE, pp. 1-6.

Parker, TM, Osternig, LR, van Donkelaar, P & Chou, L-S 2008, 'Balance control during gait in athletes and non-athletes following concussion', *Medical engineering & physics*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 959-67.

Peters, DM, Middleton, A, Donley, JW, Blanck, EL & Fritz, SL 2014, 'Concurrent validity of walking speed values calculated via the GAITRite electronic walkway and 3 meter walk test in the chronic stroke population', *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 183-8.

Phoophuangpairoj, R 2016, 'Frame-based analysis of knee extension exercises using a smartphone accelerometer', in 2016 13th International Joint Conference on Computer Science and Software Engineering (JCSSE), IEEE, pp. 1-6.

Pop-Eleches, C, Thirumurthy, H, Habyarimana, JP, Zivin, JG, Goldstein, MP, De Walque, D, Mackeen, L, Haberer, J, Kimaiyo, S & Sidle, J 2011, 'Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders', *AIDS (London, England)*, vol. 25, no. 6, p. 825.

Pratheepan, Y, Condell, JV & Prasad, G 2009, 'The use of dynamic and static characteristics of gait for individual identification', in 2009 13th International Machine Vision and Image Processing Conference, IEEE, pp. 111-6.

Price, C, Parker, D & Nester, C 2016, 'Validity and repeatability of three in-shoe pressure measurement systems', *Gait & posture*, vol. 46, pp. 69-74.

Remondino, F & Fraser, C 2006, 'Digital camera calibration methods: considerations and comparisons', *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 266-72.

Robertson, GE, Caldwell, GE, Hamill, J, Kamen, G & Whittlesey, S 2018, Research methods in biomechanics, Human kinetics.

Samà, A, Perez-Lopez, C, Romagosa, J, Rodriguez-Martin, D, Catala, A, Cabestany, J, Perez-Martinez, D & Rodriguez-Molinero, A 2012, 'Dyskinesia and motor state detection in Parkinson's disease patients with a single movement sensor', in *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE*, IEEE, pp. 1194-7.

Schwenk, M, Howe, C, Saleh, A, Mohler, J, Grewal, G, Armstrong, D & Najafi, B 2014, 'Frailty and technology: a systematic review of gait analysis in those with frailty', *Gerontology*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 79-89.

Silsupadol, P, Teja, K & Lugade, V 2017, 'Reliability and validity of a smartphone-

based assessment of gait parameters across walking speed and smartphone locations: Body, bag, belt, hand, and pocket', *Gait & posture*, vol. 58, pp. 516-22.

Silsupadol, P, Prupetkaew, P, Kamnardsiri, T & Lugade, V 2019, 'Smartphone-based assessment of gait during straight walking, turning, and walking speed modulation in laboratory and free-living environments', *IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 1188-95.

Sinha, R, Narula, A & Grundy, J 2017, 'Parametric statecharts: designing flexible IoT apps: deploying android m-health apps in dynamic smart-homes', in *Proceedings of the Australasian Computer Science Week Multiconference*, pp. 1-8.

Su, X, Tong, H & Ji, P 2014, 'Activity recognition with smartphone sensors', *Tsinghua science and technology*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 235-49.

Sulovská, K, Bělašková, S & Adámek, M 2013, 'Gait patterns for crime fighting: statistical evaluation', in *Optics and Photonics for Counterterrorism, Crime Fighting and Defence IX; and Optical Materials and Biomaterials in Security and Defence Systems Technology X*, International Society for Optics and Photonics, p. 89010G.

Sun, Y, Hare, JS & Nixon, MS 2016, 'Detecting acceleration for gait and crime scene analysis'.

Tan, AM, Fuss, FK, Weizman, Y & Troynikov, O 2015, 'Development of a smart insole for medical and sports purposes', *Procedia Eng*, vol. 112, pp. 152-6.

Tanabe, S, Ii, T, Koyama, S, Saitoh, E, Itoh, N, Ohtsuka, K, Katoh, Y, Shimizu, A & Tomita, Y 2017, 'Spatiotemporal treadmill gait measurements using a laser range scanner: Feasibility study of the healthy young adults', *Physiological measurement*, vol. 38, no. 4, p. N81.

Tao, W, Liu, T, Zheng, R & Feng, H 2012, 'Gait analysis using wearable sensors', *Sensors*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 2255-83. Taylor, ME, Ketels, MM, Delbaere, K, Lord, SR, Mikolaizak, AS & Close, JC 2012,

Taylor, ME, Ketels, MM, Delbaere, K, Lord, SR, Mikolaizak, AS & Close, JC 2012, 'Gait impairment and falls in cognitively impaired older adults: an explanatory model of sensorimotor and neuropsychological mediators', *Age and ageing*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 665-9.

Terrier, P & Schutz, Y 2003, 'Variability of gait patterns during unconstrained walking assessed by satellite positioning (GPS)', *European journal of applied physiology*, vol. 90, no. 5-6, pp. 554-61.

Tian, Y & Chen, W 2016, 'MEMS-based human activity recognition using smartphone', in 2016 35th chinese control conference (ccc), IEEE, pp. 3984-9.

Tong, K & Granat, MH 1999, 'A practical gait analysis system using gyroscopes', *Medical engineering & physics*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 87-94.

Townshend, AD, Worringham, CJ & Stewart, IB 2008, 'Assessment of speed and position during human locomotion using nondifferential GPS', *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, vol. 40, no. 1, p. 124.

Tran, DN & Phan, DD 2016, 'Human activities recognition in android smartphone using support vector machine', in 2016 7th international conference on intelligent systems, modelling and simulation (isms), IEEE, pp. 64-8.

Tuovinen, O, Björkqvist, T & Fardim, P 2013, 'Reconstruction and characterization of grinding wheel and grit topography from scanning electron microscopy stereo micrographs with digital photogrammetry', *O Papel*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 51-8.

Turner, T, Spruijt-Metz, D, Wen, C & Hingle, MD 2015, 'Prevention and treatment of pediatric obesity using mobile and wireless technologies: a systematic review', *Pediatric obesity*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 403-9.

Udin, WS & Ahmad, A 2011, 'Calibration of high resolution digital camera using selfcalibration bundle adjustment method', in 2011 IEEE 7th International Colloquium on Signal Processing and its Applications, IEEE, pp. 137-41.

Viccaro, LJ, Perera, S & Studenski, SA 2011, 'Is timed up and go better than gait speed in predicting health, function, and falls in older adults?', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 887-92.

Vos, S, Janssen, M, Goudsmit, J, Lauwerijssen, C & Brombacher, A 2016, 'From problem to solution: Developing a personalized smartphone application for recreational runners following a three-step design approach', *Procedia engineering*, vol. 147, pp. 799-805.

Whitehead, K & Hugenholtz, CH 2014, 'Remote sensing of the environment with small unmanned aircraft systems (UASs), part 1: A review of progress and challenges 1', Journal of Unmanned Vehicle Systems, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 69-85.

Winter, DA 2009, Biomechanics and motor control of human movement, John Wiley & Sons.

Winters, JM, Woo, SL & Delp, I 2012, Multiple muscle systems: Biomechanics and movement organization, Springer Science & Business Media.

Xiao, L, He, B, Koster, A, Caserotti, P, Lange-Maia, B, Glynn, NW, Harris, TB & Crainiceanu, CM 2016, 'Movement prediction using accelerometers in a human population', *Biometrics*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 513-24. Yousefi, J & Hamilton-Wright, A 2014, 'Characterizing EMG data using machine-

learning tools', Computers in biology and medicine, vol. 51, pp. 1-13.

Yousefian, M 2017, 'Design and Implementation of a Smartphone Application for Estimating Foot Clearance during Walking', Applied Sciences: School of Computing Science.

Yuan, X, Ryd, L, Tanner, K & Lidgren, L 2002, 'Roentgen single-plane photogrammetric analysis (RSPA) a new approach to the study of musculoskeletal movement', The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 908-14.

Zeng, H & Zhao, Y 2011, 'Sensing movement: Microsensors for body motion measurement', Sensors, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 638-60.

Zequera, ML & Solomonidis, S 2010, 'Performance of insole in reducing plantar pressure on diabetic patients in the early stages of the disease', in 2010 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology, IEEE, pp. 2982-5.

APPENDIX A

Ethics Clearance Forms

A.1 Participant Information Sheet

To: Participants

Full Project Title: Biomechanical measures from using smart bodywear sensors for gait analysis
Principal Supervisor: Dr. Albert Chong
Principal Researcher: Mustafa Al-lami

I am a PhD student at the University of Southern Queensland and my research is related to the area of analyse human gait by using smartphone and floor and insole shoes sensors. Through my PhD, I aim to introduce an alternative methodology to conduct human gait studies. I identified a gap in the research in this area and I believe that through my research I will be able to provide an alternative, cheap and easy to use method for gait movement study by using Smartphone. It will help the resrachees and the normal people to study and know the gait characteristic. I would therefore like to invite you to take part in this research project.

You are invited to participate in this research project because I believe that this research will be beneficial for the health assessment and sport and most of researches that are related with study human movement.

Please read the following statements carefully. They have been written to explain all the procedures involved so you can make a fully informed decision to participate or not. Feel free to ask questions about any information in the document. You may also wish to discuss the project with a relative, friend or doctor.

Once you understand what the project is about and agree to take part in it, please sign the Consent Form. By signing the Consent Form, you indicate that you have understood the information and that you give your consent to participate in the research project.

1. Purpose of Research

The propose of this research is to develop a set of body wear-based biomechanical measures for gait characteristic study. The suggested method will help experts to reduce time, effort and money. This research is a part of a PhD degree.

2. Procedure

Participation in this project will involve:

• Visiting the venue

Participants need to come to the Photogrammetry lab which is located on the ground floor in S block at USQ/Toowoomba.

• Preparation for pressure capturing

Participants walk with smartphone attached on his/her leg. Also will be given appropriate sized shoes with insole sensors inside them, and then be connected to a computer.

• Smartphone and Pressure recording

Participants will be asked to walk along the lab (about 10 metres) to record the Smartphone data and pressure beneath the feet.

• After recording

One of the investigators will remove the smartphone and the shoes with the sensors. The whole experiment will take approximately 20-30 minutes. Some basic characteristics will be recorded about each participant, namely: age, gender, height and weight. All the researchers involved in this study will be available during the study to provide assistance and answer any participant questions. The participants will be a part of a novel study and if they wish to have any follows ups on the final results of the study, they can contact the researchers. There will be almost no any kind of risks during the trials as the participants will be walking at their normal speed and the researchers will make sure that the walkway is clear. In addition, this research does not involve any kind of health or foot assessment.

3. Confidentiality

The raw pressure and smartphone records for each participant will be immediately downloaded and then stored in a password protected research computer at USQ, which no one has access to other than the researchers involved in the study. The data will be stored until the PhD studies have been completed. Any information obtained in connection with this project that can identify participants will remain confidential. Personal information such as names or images that can lead to the identification of the participant will not be included at any stage of this study. Information regarding gender and weight of participants may be published but information regarding participant identity will be removed.

4. Voluntary Participation

Participation is entirely voluntary. If you do not wish to take part you are not obliged to. If you decide to take part and change your mind later, you are free to withdraw from the project at any stage. Any information already obtained from you will be destroyed. Before you make your decision, a member of the research team will be available to answer any questions you have about the research project. You can ask about any information you want. Sign the Consent Form only after you have had a chance to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers.

5. Queries or Concerns

Should you have any queries regarding the progress or conduct of this research, you can contact the principal researcher:

Dr. Albert Chong Faculty of Engineering and Surveying Room Z412 University of Southern Queensland Tel (+61) 7 4631 2546, Mobile: 0420534762

If you have any concerns or complaints about the ethical conduct of the project you may contact the University of Southern Queensland Manager of Research Integrity and Ethics on +61 7 4631 2214 or email <u>researchintegrity@usq.edu.au</u>.

A.2 Consent Form

To: Participants

Project Details

Full Project Title: Biomechanical measures from using smartphone sensors for gait analysis

Research Team Contact Details

Principal Investigator Details Mustafa Al-lami Mobile: 0470019362 <u>u1070577@umail.usq.edu.au</u> Supervisor Details Dr. Albert Chong Mobile: 0420534762 <u>Albertkon-fook.chong@usq.edu.au</u>

•	Have read and understood the information document regarding this project.	□Yes / □No
•	Have had any questions answered to your satisfaction.	□Yes / □No
•	Are over 18 years of age?	□Yes / □No
•	Understand that if you have any additional questions, you can conta	
	research team.	
•	I understand that while information gained during the study may	
	be published, I will not be identified and my personal results will	\Box Yes /
	remain confidential.	□No
•	Agree to participate in the project. \Box Yes / \Box No	

By signing below, you are indicating that you:

Participant Name	
Participant Signature	
Date	

Please return this sheet to a Research Team member prior to undertaking the focus group.

- ✓ I have read the Participant Information Sheet and the nature and purpose of the research project has been explained to me. I understand and agree to take part.
- \checkmark I understand the purpose of the research project and my involvement in it.
- ✓ I understand that I may withdraw from the research project at any stage and that this will not affect my status now or in the future.
- \checkmark I confirm that I am over 18 years of age.
- ✓ I understand that while information gained during the study may be published, I will not be identified and my personal results will remain confidential.
- ✓ I understand that the scan recorded of my plantar surface during the research will be stored in a password protected computer at the University of Southern Queensland and access will only be granted to the researchers involved in the study.

Name of participant.....Signature.....Date.....

If you have any concerns or complaints about the ethical conduct of the project you may

contact the University of Southern Queensland Manager of Research Integrity and Ethics on

+61 7 4631 2214 or email researchintegrity@usq.edu.au.

Appendix B

Qualysis and photogrammetry results

B.1 Qualysis track manager setting up process and

specifications



Oqus camera display

The Oqus camera has a large graphical OLED display and three LEDs on the front to inform the user of the current status of the camera. The display shows, among other things, the camera number and the number of markers currently seen by the camera. $\sqrt[p]{}$ Note: The display will be turned off when the camera enters stand-by mode, i.e. if the camera has not been in use for 2 hours. Start a preview in QTM to light up the display again.



1. Measurement status indicator

Green light - The camera is ready to start a measurement Yellow light - The camera is measuring Flashing green light - Waiting for trigger to start measurement Flashing yellow light - Waiting for trigger to switch from pre-trigger to posttrigger measurement

2. Error indicator

A red light indicates that an error has occurred. The LED is blinking when a software error occurs and is lit constantly if a hardware error occurs.

3. IR receiver

The IR receiver is used for synchronization with certain active markers. It detects modulated light with a frequency of 33 kHz and is sensitive to light with wavelengths between 800 and 1100nm.

4. Synchronization status

During the synchronization phase this symbol is flashing. When the camera is synchronized with the master camera in the system it becomes stable.

5. WLAN indicator

This symbol is displayed when the WLAN of the camera is activated.

6. Master/Slave indicator

An M indicates that the camera is master for the system and by that controls for example internal synchronization. An S indicates that the camera is a slave. The indicator can also be a rotating + sign, which means that the camera is looking for the Master camera.

System setup



When the cables have been connected correctly, the indicator LEDs at the Miqus data/power ports will be lit as indicated in the illustration below. For more information about the connectors and the function of the indicators, see the Sections "Miqus camera: front side" on the facing page and "Miqus camera: back side" on page 12.



Note: For more detailed information about the Miqus system, please refer to the QTM manual or the Miqus setup guide.

System setup

 $\tilde{\beta}$ Note: When the cables have been connected correctly the LEDs on the back of the Oqus will be lit. The EXT LED will be lit green and the ACT LEDs will be blinking.

However, the connection of the power adapters does require some attention. One power adapter can power up to 4 Oqus cameras. Therefore, the connection of a camera system comprising of more than four cameras must look something like the image below.



This means that you must use the following cables for an 8 camera system:

- 1 host cable between computer and camera.
- 6 bundled cables with power and data.
- 1 data cable connected between camera 4 and 5 in the setup, because one AC/DC adapter can only power 4 cameras.
- 2 AC/DC adapters, connected to for example camera 1 and 5.

Oqus connectors

The back of the camera holds six connectors for power, data and control connections. The view differs slightly depending on the type of camera. The image below shows the standard version of the camera. The water protected version uses different connectors and lacks the LEDs found on the standard version.

B.2 Result of camera parameter after run the bundle in

the Australis program

Australis Bundle Adjustment Results File: Bundle.txt

28 February, 2018 01:12:49

Quick Summary Project: D:\PhD\18-1-2018 test\HSHSHSHSHSHSHSHSHS\C1\New folder\system calibration after run bundle.aus Adjustment: Preferred control points specified Simulated Network: No Folding Method: Standard Scaling: N/A Units: mm Number of Points: 49 Number of Images: 4 Number of Images: 4 Number of Scale Bars: 0 Number of Iterations: 6 Elapsed CPU Time: 0.069 seconds

Adjusted Exterior Orientation Parameters (angles are decimal degrees, XYZ are mm)

Results for Station Image001 FileName 10.tif Camera camera 1 Lens

Station Initial Total Final Initial Final Variable Value Adjustment Value Standard Error Standard Error Х 494.0622 31.6230 525.6853 1.0000E+003 1.6972E+001 1.0000E+003 Y 2051.8775 -11.2287 2040.6488 1.8076E+001 Ζ 1904.4410 -77.8125 1826.6285 1.0000E+003 4.4889E+001 AZ -178.67602.2615 -176.4145 1.0000E+003 9.7939E-001 0.0753 -64.8396 1.0000E+003 4.5755E-001 EL -64.9149 ROLL 180.4669 -2.0742 178.3927 1.0000E+003 9.1646E-001

Results for Station Image002 FileName 10.tif Camera camera 2 Lens Station Initial Total Final Initial Final Variable Value Adjustment Value Standard Error Standard Error Х 1105.9302 2.9359 1108.8661 1.0000E+003 5.1826E+000

1613.4308	-29.9528	1583.4780	1.0000E+003	6.7286E+000
1598.8974 -	-186.7591	1412.1383	1.0000E+003	3 1.8386E+001
131.2186	-3.8940	127.3246	1.0000E+003	5.6107E-001
-68.4245	2.9299	-65.4946	1.0000E+003	2.4996E-001
-133.4908	3.4881	-130.002	7 1.0000E+00	3 5.9794E-001
	1613.4308 1598.8974 131.2186 -68.4245 -133.4908	1613.4308 -29.9528 1598.8974 -186.7591 131.2186 -3.8940 -68.4245 2.9299 -133.4908 3.4881	1613.4308 -29.9528 1583.4780 1598.8974 -186.7591 1412.1383 131.2186 -3.8940 127.3246 -68.4245 2.9299 -65.4946 -133.4908 3.4881 -130.002	1613.4308 -29.9528 1583.4780 1.0000E+003 1598.8974 -186.7591 1412.1383 1.0000E+003 131.2186 -3.8940 127.3246 1.0000E+003 -68.4245 2.9299 -65.4946 1.0000E+003 -133.4908 3.4881 -130.0027 1.0000E+00

Results for Station Image003 FileName 10.tif Camera camera 3 Lens

Station Initial Total Final Initial Final Adjustment Variable Value Value Standard Error Standard Error Х 1110.5142 13.6875 1124.2018 1.0000E+003 9.7756E+000 Y 2050.0382 -49.0996 2000.9386 1.0000E+003 1.6225E+001 Ζ 2103.0787 -136.5942 1966.4845 1.0000E+003 4.5359E+001 ΑZ 134.9721 -0.6003 134.3718 1.0000E+003 1.0587E+000 EL -65.6355 -0.6527 -66.2882 1.0000E+003 4.6096E-001 ROLL -134.3709 0.7794 -133.5915 1.0000E+003 1.0528E+000

Results for Station Image004 FileName 10.tif Camera Camera 4 Lens

Station	Initial	Total	Final 1	Initial	Final	
Variab	le Value	Adjustme	ent Val	ue St	andard Error	Standard Error
		5				
Х	531.6483	35.3051	566.953	34 1.0	0000E+003	1.5578E+001
Y	1683.4639	0.9659	1684.42	97 1.	0000E+003	9.8792E+000
Ζ	1669.5326	-68.8904	1600.64	22 1	.0000E+003	3.5557E+001
AZ	-168.1994	2.6009	-165.59	85 1.	0000E+003	1.2180E+000
EL	-76.2523	0.0036	-76.248′	7 1.0	000E+003 2	2.9025E-001
ROLL	174.844	-8 -2.467	2 172.3	776	1.0000E+003	1.1862E+000

Summary of Image Coordinate Residuals (units are micrometres)

Sta	RMS of	Image R	esiduals	Number of non-rejected
#	Х	У	xy	points
Image001	2.52	2.61	2.57	49
Image002	8.06	5.09	6.74	47
Image003	3.25	3.44	3.35	49
Image004	3.03	3.30	3.17	49

Total Residuals (RMS)			Degrees of				
Х	У	xy	Sigma0	Freedom	Observation	ations	Parameters
Constrain	ts						
4.73	3.71	4.25	10.533	286	388	211	109

Standard Errors From Limiting Error and Total Error Propogation (XYZ are in mm)

	Limi	ting	Т	`otal		Sigh	ntings		
	Sigma	Estima	tes	Sigma E	stimate	s	# Li	st	
11111111111	222222	22223							
Label	sX	sY	sZ sZ	X sY	sZ	RMS	Rays		
1234567890	123456	789012	2345678	390			•		
A1	0.4336	0.4177	0.8435	5 0.4448	3 0.4313	0.848	33 3.2	4	YYYY
A2	0.3166	0.3866	5 0.8810	0.3189	0.3925	5 0.884	1 3.1	4	YYYY
A3	0.2743	0.3858	0.9659	0.275	5 0.3905	5 0.969	05 3.7	4	YYYY
A4	0 3033	0 4113	1 0729	0.2755	5 0 4192	0.909	4 4 4	4	YYYY
Δ5	0.3838	0.4033	0 8830	0.3867	0.1192	1.001	18 3 9	3	VNVV
A6	0.5050	0.1055	0.0000	0.5007 0.5486	504483	0.020	x1 3 3	3	VNVV
R1	0.5290	0.7570	0.0505	0.3400	0.7705	0.072	1 3.3	<u>л</u>	VVVV
	0.4293	0.3240	0.0407	0.4373	0.3203	0.044	12 5.1	- - /	1 I I I VVVV
D2	0.3133	0.3174	1 0071	0.3109	0.3191		0 J.4	4 1	1 1 1 1 VVVVV
Б3 D4	0.2/40	0.3329	1.00/1	0.2733	0.3344	1.009	4.4 0 4 0	4	
B4	0.2938	0.3330	0.9994	0.2949	0.3344	1.003		4	
BS	1.8086	1.0283	5.0453	0 1.9143	0.1.0902	2.314	H I.Z	4	YYYY
B6	0.4412	0.3203	0.903/	0.4548	5 0.3248	0.91/	5 11.3	4	YYYY
CI	0.3587	0.2952	1.0112	0.3605	0.2965	1.013	8 5.0	4	YYYY
C2	0.3195	0.3229	1.1595	0.3206	0.3246	0 1.163	4 4.0	4	YYYY
C3	0.2804	0.2946	0.9418	0.2812	0.2954	0.944	1 3.0	4	YYYY
C4	0.3253	0.3449	1.2058	0.3267	0.3467	1.212	25 3.9	4	YYYY
C5	0.3856	0.2914	0.8398	8 0.3918	3 0.2938	0.847	6.7	4	YYYY
C6	0.4269	0.2953	0.9899	0.4337	0.2968	1.000	9 4.0	4	YYYY
D1	0.3712	0.3045	5 1.1604	0.3738	3 0.3059	1.166	52 3.0	4	YYYY
D2	0.3261	0.3013	0.9537	0.3271	0.3023	0.956	53 3.3	4	YYYY
D3	0.2922	0.3000	1.0641	0.2927	0.3006	5 1.066	65 4.3	4	YYYY
D4	0.3128	0.3074	1.0725	5 0.3134	0.3079	0 1.075	53 4.5	4	YYYY
D5	0.3664	0.3024	0.9430	0.3680	0.3033	0.947	1 6.9	4	YYYY
D6	0.4754	0.3157	1.1350	0.4853	3 0.3173	3 1.153	30 1.8	4	YYYY
E1	0.3528	0.3326	1.0463	0.3545	0.3340	1.051	3 5.2	4	YYYY
E2	0.3318	0.3927	0.8983	0.3336	0.3964	0.903	6 3.8	4	YYYY
E3	0.3102	0.3437	1.2058	0.3111	0.3448	1.212	5 3.2	4	YYYY
E4	0.3075	0.3867	0.8985	0.3091	0.3895	0.904	9 5.5	4	YYYY
E5	0.4151	0.3623	1.1979	0.4188	0.3638	1.210	5 4.6	4	YYYY
E6	0.4439	0.3396	1.0282	0.4493	0.3409	1.039	9 1.3	4	YYYY
F1	0.3412	0.4125	0.9730	0.3427	0.4158	0.979	6 2.2	4	YYYY
F2	0.3080	0.3950	1.0746	0.3089	0.3966	1.080	2 1.3	4	YYYY
F3	0 3098	0 4241	1 2150	0 3108	0 4 2 6 3	1 224	4 1 3	4	YYYY
F4	0.3420	0 4334	1 2096	0.3435	0.4357	1 220	7 2 3	4	YYYY
F5	0.3810	0.4088	1.0630	0.3829	0.4103	1.070	9 4 5	4	VVVV
F6	0.3010	0.4000	0.8748	0.3027 0.4377	0.4103	0.801	5 2 1	4	VVVV
F0 G1	0.7270	0.4303	0.0740	0.7377	0.7710	0.071	$\frac{5}{2.1}$	т 1	VVVV
G1 G2	1 2700	0.5175	, 0.9010 16 0607	, 0.3402 7 1 1576	2 0.3213 5 7 7 2 1 4	, 0.903 5 6 200	25 17	- + 1	IIII VVVV
G2	1.3/30	0 1750	0.0097	7 0 2704	5 0 1774	50.590	72 1.7	-+ ∕	VVVV
	0.2/09	0.4730	1 0.9907	0.2790	7 0 4044	5 0.77/ 5 1 000	1.3	+ ∕	VVVV
	0.217/	0.471/	1.0010	5 0.3207	0.4940) 1.090) 0 000	1.0	4 1	IIII VVVV
	0.3028	0.4/03	0.7/U2	0.3045	0.4/92	2 U.98L	3 3.1	4 1	
00	0.4193	0.4803	0.000/	0.4281	0.4933	0.911	2 4.9	4	ΙΙΥΥ

H1	0.4698	0.6874	1.2485	0.4796	0.7092	1.2720	3.5	4	YYYY
H2	0.2949	0.5560	0.9571	0.2964	0.5651	0.9719	4.5	4	YYYY
H3	0.3155	0.6907	1.2272	0.3171	0.7090	1.2474	2.1	4	YYYY
H4	0.3109	0.5525	0.9299	0.3129	0.5586	0.9448	5.1	4	YYYY
H5	0.4541	0.7208	1.2117	0.4604	0.7413	1.2457	2.8	4	YYYY
H6	0.4287	0.5560	0.9074	0.4388	0.5660	0.9397	6.1	4	YYYY
X1	1.4970	1.4692	5.0936	2.1216	2.0211	7.6230	6.2	4	YYYY

	Summary of				Summary of			
	Limit	ing STD E	rror Estima	tes	Total S	TD Error Estimates		
	Х	Y	Ζ	Х	Y	Z		
RMS is	0.5252	0.6059	1.6679	0.5810	0.6554	1.8968		
Minimum	is 0.2743	0.2914	0.8398	0.2753	0.2938	0.8442		
at point	A3	C5	C5	B3	C5	B1		
Maximum	is 1.8086	2.5877	6.0697	2.1216	2.7346	7.6230		
at point	B5	G2	G2	X1	G2	X1		

Triangulated Object Space Coordinates (XYZ are in mm)

			Sightin	gs		
			# List	1111111	1112222222	22223
Label	Х	Y Z	RMS Ra	ays		
1234567890	1234567890	1234567890				
A1	1011.3783	1712.2738	150.8390	3.2 4	YYYY	
A2	1112.0439	1711.7774	100.4227	3.1 4	YYYY	
A3	1210.0959	1714.0532	50.8644	3.7 4	YYYY	
A4	1309.9482	1712.2392	0.8039	4.4 4	YYYY	
A5	1411.3322	1712.1270	99.8485	3.9 3	YNYY	
A6	1510.5519	1711.4339	145.8114	3.3 3	YNYY	
B1	1011.2194	1611.9687	150.8164	3.7 4	YYYY	
B2	1110.7951	1613.1419	101.2311	5.4 4	YYYY	
B3	1211.6672	1610.6812	50.7142	4.4 4	YYYY	
B4	1311.4210	1611.7632	50.3983	4.0 4	YYYY	
B5	1411.4801	1609.7261	-1.6264	1.2 4	YYYY	
B6	1512.9587	1612.3734	99.9889	11.3 4	YYYY	
C1	1010.2112	1511.7327	51.2587	5.0 4	YYYY	
C2	1112.2263	1512.7401	0.8679 4	4.0 4	YYYY	
C3	1210.7515	1510.8403	101.2299	3.0 4	YYYY	
C4	1312.0139	1512.0872	0.2857 3	3.9 4	YYYY	
C5	1410.2528	1510.6560	150.5421	6.7 4	YYYY	
C6	1513.4752	1512.6529	50.4742	4.0 4	YYYY	
D1	1011.1791	1414.9972	1.1706	3.0 4	YYYY	
D2	1110.9097	1413.3874	101.7315	3.3 4	YYYY	
D3	1211.4202	1410.9622	51.7052	4.3 4	YYYY	
D4	1311.3023	1413.0895	50.4558	4.5 4	YYYY	
D5	1409.9508	1410.2243	99.5671	6.9 4	YYYY	

D6	1511.1047	1411.8392	-0.2930 1.8 4	YYYY
E1	1011.1869	1314.0159	51.7520 5.2 4	YYYY
E2	1111.8407	1312.3194	150.6501 3.8 4	YYYY
E3	1209.9275	1313.4849	1.4785 3.2 4	YYYY
E4	1310.3674	1311.5187	150.1894 5.5 4	YYYY
E5	1410.2494	1312.5926	-1.1484 4.6 4	YYYY
E6	1511.6614	1313.1157	50.2526 1.3 4	YYYY
F1	1011.0644	1215.2142	101.3107 2.2 4	YYYY
F2	1111.9130	1212.9185	50.9926 1.3 4	YYYY
F3	1209.5947	1212.2189	0.2239 1.3 4	YYYY
F4	1310.4292	1213.3041	-0.1950 2.3 4	YYYY
F5	1410.7916	1213.6279	49.9369 4.5 4	YYYY
F6	1512.1375	1211.6500	149.7517 2.1 4	YYYY
G1	1010.7045	1114.6164	151.7798 3.6 4	YYYY
G2	1112.0814	1112.5242	-2.0833 1.7 4	YYYY
G3	1210.6858	1113.4515	100.8072 1.5 4	YYYY
G4	1309.6892	1113.9872	50.0884 1.6 4	YYYY
G5	1411.5941	1112.0403	98.9060 5.1 4	YYYY
G6	1510.2582	1112.6847	151.0154 4.9 4	YYYY
H1	1011.0155	1013.8087	1.1017 3.5 4	YYYY
H2	1109.8906	1012.2663	149.3401 4.5 4	YYYY
H3	1210.4006	1011.4572	0.1729 2.1 4	YYYY
H4	1311.8976	1011.6697	148.6562 5.1 4	YYYY
H5	1410.0879	1012.6985	0.2239 2.8 4	YYYY
H6	1509.6270	1012.1278	150.5631 6.1 4	YYYY
X1	467.8873	1439.4265	59.6043 6.2 4	YYYY

Image Coordinate Rejections

Image Number Image001

Image Number Image002

Image Number Image003

Image Number Image004

Total Rejections 0

Australis Bundle Adjustment Results: Camera Parameters

29 February, 2018 22:59:47

Project: D:\PhD\18-1-2018 test\HSHSHSHSHSHSHSHSHSHS\C1\New folder (25)\after run bundle 25.aus

Adjustment: Explicit Object Point Control Number of Points: 49 Number of Images: 4 RMS of Image coords: 69.83 (um)

Results for Camera 1 camera 1 Lens

Sens	sor Size	Pixel Size (mm)
Η	1920	0.003
V	1080	0.003

Came	ra Initial	Total	Final	Initial	Final
Variab	le Value	Adjustment	z Value	Std. Error	Std. Error
С	4.5858	0.00000	4.5858	1.0e+003	1.102e-001 (mm)
XP	-0.0569	0.00000	-0.0569	1.0e+003	4.980e-002 (mm)
YP	-0.0452	0.00000	-0.0452	1.0e+003	4.321e-002 (mm)
K1	1.50717e-026	0.000e+000	1.50717e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K2	5.87099e-026	0.000e+000	5.87099e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K3	2.03330e-025	0.000e+000	2.03330e-025	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P1	.92816e-027	0.000e+000	4.92816e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P2 ·	-1.90732e-026	0.000e+000	-1.90732e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B1	4.68734e-027	0.000e+000	4.68734e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B2	1.57275e-027	0.000e+000 -	1.57275e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015

Results for Camera 2 camera 2 Lens

Sens	sor Size	Pixel Size (mm)
Η	1920	0.003
V	1080	0.003

Came	era Initial	Total	Final	Initial	Final
Varia	ble Value	Adjustment	t Value	Std. Error	Std. Error
С	4.3383	0.00000	4.3383	1.0e+003	5.445e-002 (mm)
XP	0.0702	0.00000	0.0702	1.0e+003	3.136e-002 (mm)
YP	0.0149	0.00000	0.0149	1.0e+003	1.698e-002 (mm)
K1	2.49651e-003	0.000e+000	2.49651e-003	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K2	-3.60700e-004	0.000e+000	-3.60700e-004	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K3	6.24184e-005	0.000e+000	6.24184e-005	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P1	-6.97313e-027	0.000e+000	-6.97313e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P2	-3.14540e-026	0.000e+000	-3.14540e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B1	5.27556e-027	0.000e+000	5.27556e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B2	-2.40271e-027	0.000e+000	-2.40271e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015

Resu	lts for	Camera 3	camera 3	Lens			
Sense	or Size	e Pixel	l Size (mm)				
Η	1920	0.00)3				
V	1080	0.00	03				
Can	nera	Initial	Total		Final	Initial	Final
Vari	able	Value	Adjustmer	nt	Value	Std. Error	Std. Error
С		4.7348	0.00000		4.7348	1.0e+003	1.002e-001 (mm)
XP		0.0234	0.00000		0.0234	1.0e+003	5.605e-002 (mm)
YP		-0.0778	0.00000		-0.0778	1.0e+003	2.868e-002 (mm)
K1	1.12	491e-026	0.000e+000	1.1249	91e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K2	6.03	811e-026	0.000e+000	6.038	1e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K3	2.98	818e-025	0.000e+000	2.988	l 8e-025	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P1	-4.37	766e-027	0.000e+000	-4.377	66e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P2	-1.71	553e-026	0.000e+000	-1.715	53e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B1	4.06	085e-027	0.000e+000	4.0608	35e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B2	3.06	112e-028	0.000e+000	3.0611	2e-028	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
Resu	lts for	Camera 4	Camera 4	Lens			
Sense	or Size	e Pixel	l Size (mm)				
Η	1920	0.00	03				
V	1080	0.00	03				
Can	nera	Initial	Total		Final	Initial	Final
Vari	able	Value	Adjustmer	nt	Value	Std. Error	r Std. Error
С		4.7245	0.00000		4.7245	1.0e+003	1.029e-001 (mm)
XP		0.2793	0.00000		0.2793	1.0e+003	4.461e-002 (mm)
YP		-0.0257	0.00000		-0.0257	1.0e+003	3.004e-002 (mm)
K1	8.71	764e-027	0.000e+000	8.7176	64e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K2	2.70	215e-026	0.000e+000	2.702	15e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
K3	7.45	787e-026	0.000e+000	7.4578	87e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P1	-1.410	18e-027	0.000e+000	-1.410	l 8e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
P2	-1.578	98e-026	0.000e+000	-1.5789	98e-026	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B1	3.92	742e-027	0.000e+000	3.9274	2e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
B2	-1.166	592e-027	0.000e+000	-1.166	92e-027	1.0e-016	1.061e-015
Maxi	imum	Observatic	onal Radial Di	stance	Encounte	ered: 3.0 1	mm
Exter decir	rior Or nal deg	ientation S grees)	Summary (Xc	, Yc, Zo	e are in p	roject units, 1	rotations are in
Statio	on	Image	Xc Yc	; Z	Zc Al	pha Elev.	Roll

 1
 Image001
 493.73783
 2051.69210
 1904.78058
 -178.660151
 -64.922407

 179.553377
 2
 Image002
 1106.02187
 1613.51334
 1598.82342
 131.212108
 -68.420315

 133.486112
 -

3 Image003 1109.97466 2050.74193 2102.71948 135.027579 -65.633688 -134.435997

4 Image004 532.35866 1682.25214 1669.27416 -168.223621 -76.285393 174.897834



B.3 25 Photos of one step for one subject from one camera only.







Appendix C

C.1 Insole sensors specification



Left				1		
						Insole VS
Subjects	Variable	ins a	Mean	smart	Moone	Smartphone Presson P
Jubjects	Ston time	0 0 0		0 02		0 60
	step time	0.02	1 20	0.02	1 21	0.09
1	Cadonco	0.03	1.29	1.07	1.51	0.90
	Walking time	0.09	47.47	1.97	40.10	0.72
2	Stop time	0.02	0.90	0.01	0.90	0.03
	step time	0.01	1 21	0.01	1 20	0.87
	Cadonco	0.02	1.51	0.02	1.50	0.05
	Valking time	0.59	47.10	0.75	45.57	0.00
	Ston time	0.01	0.90	0.02	0.89	0.93
	step time	0.11	0.71	0.08	0.09	0.96
3	Stride time	0.14	1.32	0.15	1.33	0.96
		0.93	40.09	ō.12	49.05	0.90
	ston time	0.22	1.00	0.10	0.98	0.97
	step time	0.01	0.74		0.74 1 77	0.79
4	Schue time	0.03	1.20	0.05	1.27	0.87
	Cadence Malking time	1.18	47.50	1.92	47.19	0.85
	Ston time	0.01	0.90	0.03	0.90	0.70
	step time	0.02	0.70	0.04	0.08	0.91
5	Stride time	0.05	1.20	0.03	1.27	0.99
		1.91	47.60	1.22	47.31	0.99
	waiking time	0.03	0.93	0.05	0.93	0.83
	step time	0.02	0.71	0.0	0.7	0.65
6	Stride time	0.01	1.30	0.0	1.3	0.79
		2.83	50.07	2.5	47.8	0.08
	waiking time	0.01	0.92	0.01	0.9	0.79
	Step time	0.01	0.71	0.02	0.78	0.76
7	stride time	0.01	1.30	0.02	1.31	0.72
		0.66	46.58	0.21	46.04	0.80
	vvaiking time	0.02	0.92	0.01	0.88	0.71
	Step time	0.07	U./6	0.07	0.75	0.97
8	stride time	0.19	1.31	0.22	1.25	0.95
		6.16	47.38	0.50	50.77	0.87
	vvaiking time	0.05	0.88	0.06	0.90	0.83
	Step time	0.01	0.75	0.01	0.75	0.87
9	stride time	0.00	1.29	0.02	1.31	0.92
	Cadence	0.29	48.24	0.55	47.08	0.84
	Walking time	0.01	0.90	0.01	0.89	0.80
40	Step time	0.03	0.68	0.02	0.69	0.93
10	stride time	0.02	1.26	0.03	1.27	0.92
	Cadence	1.57	48.10	1.22	47.31	0.97

C.2 results of 20 subjects left and right legs

	Walking time	0.02	0.95	0.01	0.95	0.96
	Step time	0.03	0.66	0.04	0.63	0.96
11	stride time	0.07	1.23	0.06	1.23	0.99
	Cadence	2.53	49.02	2.14	48.86	0.98
	Walking time	0.10	0.99	0.11	0.97	0.59
	Step time	0.01	0.61	0.01	0.62	0.64
12	stride time	0.02	1.18	0.01	1.18	0.87
12	Cadence	0.41	50.94	0.54	50.70	0.90
	Walking time	0.03	1.10	0.03	1.09	0.71
	Step time	0.03	0.60	0.04	0.61	0.69
12	stride time	0.37	1.24	0.36	1.28	0.97
13	Cadence	1.24	55.55	1.37	55.88	0.96
	Walking time	0.04	1.23	0.06	1.20	0.77
	Step time	0.01	0.64	0.02	0.66	0.42
14	stride time	0.04	1.17	0.03	1.18	0.72
14	Cadence	1.75	50.84	0.97	50.30	0.72
	Walking time	0.05	0.97	0.08	0.97	0.73
15	Step time	0.03	0.64	0.03	0.61	0.87
	stride time	0.04	1.13	0.03	1.13	0.92
15	Cadence	2.02	53.18	1.24	53.18	0.98
	Walking time	0.04	1.17	0.07	1.08	0.95
	Step time	0.02	0.63	0.02	0.63	0.75
16	stride time	0.03	1.11	0.02	1.11	0.96
10	Cadence	1.56	54.06	1.20	53.96	0.96
	Walking time	0.04	1.22	0.08	1.22	0.68
	Step time	0.02	0.64	0.04	0.58	0.96
17	stride time	0.03	1.11	0.02	1.12	0.78
	Cadence	1.20	54.38	0.75	53.84	0.77
	Walking time	0.06	1.17	0.07	1.20	0.86
	Step time	0.02	0.62	0.03	0.63	0.64
18	stride time	0.03	1.11	0.02	1.11	0.79
	Cadence	1.45	54.40	1.32	54.64	0.98
	Walking time	0.09	1.15	0.10	1.12	0.76
	Step time	0.02	0.61	0.05	0.56	0.07
19	stride time	0.04	1.08	0.06	1.07	0.94
10	Cadence	2.03	55.88	2.99	56.32	0.96
	Walking time	0.06	1.14	0.06	1.22	0.68
	Step time	0.01	0.64	0.05	0.57	0.85
20	stride time	0.01	1.10	0.03	1.13	0.95
20	Cadence	1.17	54.58	1.06	53.96	0.66
	Walking time	0.06	1.34	0.029	1.330	0.91

Right						
						Insole Vs
r		Insol	e	Smar	tphone	Smartphone
Subjects	Variable	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	Preason R
	Step time	0.03	0.75	0.02	0.75	0.60
1	stride time	0.05	1.30	0.07	1.33	0.90
1	Cadence	1.58	46.50	2.08	45.53	0.85
	Walking time	0.02	0.91	0.02	0.91	0.69
	Step time	0.01	0.76	0.01	0.75	0.87
2	stride time	0.02	1.31	0.02	1.27	0.76
2	Cadence	0.29	45.76	1.89	44.06	0.90
	Walking time	0.02	0.88	0.01	0.88	0.67
	Step time	0.10	0.74	0.11	0.85	0.85
3	stride time	0.19	1.31	0.19	1.30	0.98
5	Cadence	6.99	46.43	6.88	46.84	0.99
	Walking time	0.12	0.93	0.10	0.87	0.74
	Step time	0.02	0.72	0.01	0.74	0.65
4	stride time	0.03	1.28	0.03	1.28	0.93
7	Cadence	1.12	46.74	1.24	47.07	0.99
	Walking time	0.01	0.90	0.01	0.91	0.82
	Step time	0.00	0.71	0.01	0.70	0.94
5	stride time	0.04	1.25	0.04	1.23	0.95
5	Cadence	1.63	48.16	1.36	48.64	0.93
	Walking time	0.03	0.90	0.01	0.93	0.85
	Step time	0.01	0.72	0.05	0.75	0.74
6	stride time	0.04	1.29	0.04	1.36	0.93
U	Cadence	3.28	50.30	4.59	52.68	0.90
	Walking time	0.01	0.93	0.02	0.92	0.82
	Step time	0.01	0.75	0.01	0.78	0.76
7	stride time	0.00	1.30	0.02	1.30	0.87
,	Cadence	0.12	46.30	0.45	45.75	0.83
	Walking time	0.02	0.88	0.01	0.89	0.74
	Step time	0.06	0.77	0.09	0.81	0.91
8	stride time	0.15	1.33	0.18	1.30	0.97
0	Cadence	6.43	47.60	6.11	47.61	0.99
	Walking time	0.04	0.88	0.05	0.91	0.88
	Step time	0.02	0.72	0.01	0.74	0.65
9	stride time	0.02	1.29	0.03	1.28	0.89
,	Cadence	0.35	47.37	0.91	47.01	0.76
	Walking time	0.01	0.92	0.01	0.90	0.88
	Step time	0.01	0.70	0.01	0.70	0.65
10	stride time	0.04	1.26	0.03	1.24	0.97
IV	Cadence	0.79	48.39	0.89	48.30	0.75
	Walking time	0.01	0.95	0.01	0.95	0.75
11	Step time	0.05	0.69	0.05	0.61	0.71
11	stride time	0.07	1.22	0.02	1.19	0.74

	Cadence	2.54	49.25	0.98	50.70	0.72
	Walking time	0.04	1.00	0.06	0.99	0.98
	Step time	0.01	0.62	0.02	0.62	0.65
10	stride time	0.02	1.17	0.01	1.17	0.76
14	Cadence	1.12	51.24	0.51	51.34	0.84
	Walking time	0.05	1.09	0.03	1.10	0.88
	Step time	0.02	0.59	0.03	0.56	0.81
12	stride time	0.15	1.14	0.06	1.10	0.94
15	Cadence	1.55	56.29	1.97	56.22	0.97
	Walking time	0.08	1.22	0.05	1.21	0.74
	Step time	0.02	0.65	0.01	0.66	0.82
14	stride time	0.05	1.18	0.03	1.18	0.97
14	Cadence	1.98	50.74	1.62	50.80	0.98
	Walking time	0.05	0.99	0.04	0.96	0.79
	Step time	0.03	0.62	0.03	0.62	0.81
15	stride time	0.04	1.15	0.03	1.14	0.67
15	Cadence	1.90	52.76	1.46	52.90	0.68
	Walking time	0.04	1.16	0.08	1.08	0.94
	Step time	0.01	0.64	0.02	0.63	0.90
16	stride time	0.04	1.11	0.02	1.10	0.98
10	Cadence	1.73	54.28	1.00	54.86	0.92
	Walking time	0.07	1.23	0.08	1.22	0.92
17	Step time	0.02	0.64	0.03	0.63	0.72
	stride time	0.02	1.12	0.01	1.13	0.86
1/	Cadence	0.95	53.80	0.50	53.18	0.87
	Walking time	0.04	1.15	0.05	1.16	0.67
	Step time	0.01	0.62	0.02	0.62	0.73
18	stride time	0.02	1.09	0.02	1.12	0.84
10	Cadence	0.95	54.92	0.66	54.18	0.78
	Walking time	0.16	1.16	0.16	1.19	0.79
	Step time	0.03	0.62	0.03	0.60	0.79
10	stride time	0.04	1.07	0.04	1.07	0.99
19	Cadence	2.23	56.32	2.40	55.98	0.98
	Walking time	0.12	1.18	0.08	1.22	0.88
	Step time	0.01	0.63	0.03	0.62	0.79
20	stride time	0.01	1.09	0.03	1.10	0.95
20	Cadence	0.51	55.44	1.18	54.54	0.82
	Walking time	0.12	1.32	0.03	1.35	0.88